
Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY

Notice of BCP Shadow Schools Forum
Date: Tuesday, 8 January 2019 at 4.00 pm

Venue: Main Hall, Bournemouth Learning Centre, Ensbury Ave, 
Bournemouth BH10 4HG

Membership:

Chairman:
Phil Keen

Vice Chairman:
Patrick Earnshaw

Russell Arnold
Mark Avoth
Andy Baker
Karen Boynton
Kate Carter
Jon Chapple
Geoff Cherrill

Linda Duly
Phillip Gavin
Jason Holbrook
Sue Johnson
Bob Kennedy
Jacqui Kitcher
Angela Malanczuk

David Newman
Jeremy Payne
Sean Preston
Michael Reid
Dave Simpson
David Todd

All Members of the BCP Shadow Schools Forum are invited to attend this meeting to 
consider the items of business set out on the agenda below. 

The press and public are welcome to attend.

If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Marilyn Scofield-Marlowe or email marilyn.scofield-marlowe@poole.gov.uk

Press enquiries should be directed to Ceri Tocock: Tel: 01202 795455 or 
email ctocock@christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk
 
This Notice of Meeting and all the papers mentioned within it are available at 
moderngov.bcpshadowauthority.com

JANE PORTMAN
DESIGNATED INTERIM HEAD OF PAID SERVICE

Thursday, 20 December 2018 A
va

ila
bl

e 
on

lin
e 

an
d 

on
 th

e 
M

od
.g

ov
 a

pp

Public Document Pack



AGENDA
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public

1.  Apologies for Absence
To receive any apologies for absence.

2.  Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest.

3.  Minutes 1 - 12
To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 December 2018.

4.  Financial Settlement for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) 
2019/20

13 - 16

To consider the report.

5.  Early Years 17 - 32
To consider the report.

6.  Growth Fund 33 - 42
To consider the report.

7.  High Needs Transfer 43 - 54
To consider the report.

8.  Maintained School Central Retentions 55 - 72
To consider the report.

9.  Forward Plan 73 - 74
To note the Forward Plan.

10.  Any Other Business
To consider any business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of 
sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

11.  Exclusion of Public and Press
To consider passing the following Resolution (if required):

“RESOLVED that, in accordance with Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from the Meeting 
for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it/they may involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) … of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Said Act as the public interest in withholding 
the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.



3

No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes.



This page is intentionally left blank



BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE

SHADOW SCHOOLS FORUM

14 DECEMBER 2018

The meeting commenced at 8:00am and concluded at 11.00am

Present:

Maintained - Primary

Karen Boynton – Headteacher, Highcliffe Primary   

Maintained – Secondary 

David Newman – Director of Finance and Operations - Poole High School

Maintained – Special

Geoff Cherrill – Headteacher, Winchelsea School

Mainstream Academies – Primary

Jeremy Payne – Principal, St James CE School  
Bob Kennedy - Headteacher, St Michael’s School 
Dave Simpson – Headteacher, The Epiphany School
Sean Preston - Chief Financial Officer, Hamwic Trust
Kate Carter – CEO, TEACH Academy Trust
Jon Chapple – Headteacher, Twynham Primary
Angela Malanczuk – Principal, Stanley Green Infant Academy

Mainstream Academies – Secondary

Phil Keen – Headteacher, Corfe Hills School
Andy Baker – Headteacher, Poole Grammar School
Patrick Earnshaw – Headteacher, Highcliffe School
Mark Avoth – Headteacher, Bourne Academy
Jason Holbrook – Headteacher, Avonbourne College

All-Through Academies

David Todd – Headteacher, St Peter’s School

Mainstream  PRU

Phillip Gavin - Headteacher, Christchurch Learning Centre

AP Academy

Russell Arnold, Headteacher, The Quay School  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Academies – Special

Michael Reid – Ambitions Academies Trust, Finance Officer

Early Years Representative

Linda Duly – Cuddles Day Nursery
Sue Johnson – Jack in the Box 

14-19 Representative

Jacqui Kitcher – Bournemouth & Poole College, 14-19 Representative

Diocesan Representatives

Vacant

Invited Attendees

Councillor Mike White – Borough of Poole
Councillor Nicola Greene - Bournemouth Borough Council   
Councillor Trish Jamieson - Christchurch Borough Council
Nicola Webb – Assistant Chief Finance Officer, Bournemouth and Poole
Vicky Wales – Head of Children, Young People & Learning, Poole
Neil Goddard - Service Director - Community Learning & Commissioning, Bournemouth
Jan Thurgood – Strategic Director, People Theme, Poole
Jack Cutler, Planning and Statistics Officer, Community Learning & Commissioning, 
Bournemouth
 
Not Present:

Sue Ross – Director, Adults and Children, Bournemouth

Observers:

Felicity Draper – Bournemouth Borough Council
Steve Ellis – Bournemouth & Poole 
Jo Collis-Heavens - Bournemouth & Poole Councils
Amanda Gridley – Borough of Poole
Nicki Morton, Ambitions Academies Trust
Michael Reid – Ambitions Academies Trust, Finance Officer
Dave Cheeseman – Ocean Learning Trust
Teresa Jones – Strategic Lead SEND - Poole

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

None

Page 2



2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests. 

3. MINUTES

Page 5, Item 5 (i) - It was agreed this be reworded to:
‘Support the recommendations of the formula subgroup in establishing the formula 
changes required to achieve various levels of transfer’
 
Page 7, Item 6 (i) – It was agreed that this should also be reworded as above.
Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 November 2018 agreed subject to the changes 
above. To be signed by the Chair further to those changes. 

ACTION: Clerk to amend minutes as above for Chair to sign. 

4. REPORT OF THE HIGH NEEDS BLOCK FINANCIAL STRATEGY GROUP 

The Forum was asked to consider all the information put before them before coming to 
a decision or making a recommendation.

Dave Simpson presented the report on behalf of the High Needs Block (HNB) Financial 
Strategy Group.

Comments noted:

 Banding of Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) funding moves the financial 
pressure out of the High Needs Block and into schools’ budgets.

 There is not enough money in the pot to cover the demand.
 The HNB Financial Strategy Group has value and would like to continue to meet to 

draw together the strategy for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP).
 Vicky Wales noted that across the 3 meetings there had been good engagement 

and representation and they had looked at the issues in detail across BCP and the 
actions being taken. The situation is clearly very difficult but this is also a national 
issue. The need to continue lobbying Government was highlighted and thanks 
were expressed to Members for speaking to local MPs about this.

 It was noted that banding exists in the Early Years Sector and in top-ups in special 
schools. This helps give more clarity to parents and takes away the emphasis on 
1:1 funding. 

 There is support for Outreach Services.
 The recommendations from this report are looking at the ways of keeping pupils in 

mainstream schools and supporting funding moving to local provision.
 Issues around permanent exclusions were discussed in the group and what 

opportunities there are to look at this. A group has already been formed to explore 
this further.

The Chair requested any questions regarding the report. A summary of questions with 
responses was as follows:

 Referring to Page 19 of the papers, what level of savings had already been 
achieved in independent special schools. Vicky Wales stated that in Poole a 
reduction of approximately 300k had been achieved and this was similar in 

Page 3



Bournemouth in this part of the budget. This had been achieved by reviewing 
placements with a focus on outcomes, looking at contractual arrangements and 
value for money and a new South West Framework is being introduced.

 Regarding investing to save, who would validate the amount of money and evaluate 
the investment in outreach services. Vicky Wales confirmed that both Poole and 
Bournemouth had worked with providers, and been informed by the ISOS reviews 
and looked at pupils moving from mainstream into special provision mainly around 
ASD. Poole have reviewed and set up a framework to look at and measure impact 
of outreach services. This will be adopted across the area. There is a need to 
continue to work in partnership to look at value for money and impact of outreach 
services in BCP. A Forum Member noted that outreach work in Poole is already well 
established.

 Given the capacity issues around specialist provision, why had Bournemouth and 
Poole not put in a bid to open a special free school?  Vicky Wales noted that they 
had been aware that Dorset had put in a bid to open a free school in Bovington so 
knew there would be one in the local area, and all special schools had also agreed 
to expand their provision wherever possible. A new school would add further 
financial pressure to the DSG. Neil Goddard noted that Bournemouth and Poole did 
look at the free school option but had made a judgement that, within the constraints 
of the very tight timescale for the bids, would be unlikely to be successful. This 
would also have diverted resources from the current work underway. This option 
could be explored again in the future if it was felt appropriate.

 The response rate for the most recent high needs consultation had not been high 
and queried how this would be addressed.  The Chair opted to take this question 
later in the meeting.

 It was queried if the significant monies received by Linwood and Sigma from the 
SSIF could be utilised in any way. A Forum Member clarified that those monies were 
received to support school improvement opportunities, not provision, and therefore 
could not be used for addressing these current pressures but hopefully would have 
medium term impact.

 Has the use of specialist hubs within mainstream schools which have space has 
been considered? Vicky Wales confirmed that Bournemouth and Poole have been 
looking at this option and some have already been established which free up special 
school places.  The example given was Montacute pupils have a class at 
St Aldhelm’s Academy in Poole.

 The Chair asked what had been done in terms of lobbying government. Cllr Nicola 
Greene confirmed that a letter had been sent to the Secretary of State by Michael 
Tomlinson on our behalf. Cllr Greene read out the content of the response to this 
letter which had been received late the previous day. In summary, there was no 
commitment confirmed of any additional funding. Members will continue to lobby 
and the Minister is also hearing the same across the country from other Local 
Authorities.

The Chair sought further views from Forum members.

 Health colleagues need to be more engaged as they could be giving parents 
unaffordable expectations of levels of support within early years. Vicky Wales 
confirmed that Health colleagues are part of the panels making decisions. Useful if 
specific examples could be provided to the Early Years Team. 

 Referring to page 10, bullet point 3 in respect of banding. Some of the EHCPs state 
a specific amount of money – when these are reviewed will the larger amount stay 

Page 4



on the EHCP or will they be reviewed and be allocated a banding? It was confirmed 
that on review specific amounts will be part of the EHCP.

 Banding protection – when would this be introduced? This was in development with 
the suggestion made that it could apply where EHCP proportion is greater than 3% 
of pupils. When this was discussed, there were only a small number at this level but 
if numbers of EHCPs continue to grow then more schools could be drawn in and the 
impact on other schools would need to be a greater reduction.

 Should the lobbying focus more on the financial impact of parental choice and 
expectations and with regard to the Tribunals, it is clear that the legislation places 
greater weight on the views of parents. Vicky Wales agreed with this point and the 
DfE have indicated policy makers are being made aware of the financial issues but 
changing legislation is a lengthy process and can take years and therefore we must 
all work within the current system and legislation. A Forum Member noted that we 
should be promoting the message that parental expectations do need to be 
managed.  

5. MAINSTREAM SCHOOLS FORMULA CONSULTATION

Jack Cutler presented the report at Agenda item 5 in detail relating to the Mainstream 
Schools Funding Formula Consultation responses.  

 This information was presented in order for the Forum to consider whether they 
continue to support the funding formula principles as set out within the consultation 
paper in full or whether any adjustments should be made.

 This consultation referred to the formula used to distribute rather than looking at the 
size of any transfer from the school’s block to the High Needs Block (HNB).

 The response rate to the consultation was relatively high at 63 of 89 schools 
including 2 special schools out of 7.

 The report provided the analysis of responses and a summary with commentary.
 Section 3.2 shows a breakdown of respondents and indicates a good spread across 

all phases.

Queries and responses were as follows: 

 Why is MFG being set at potentially -1.5% when there is a 1% floor? It was stated 
that the technicalities of this are quite subtle as there is potentially floor protection 
compared with 2017-18 funding but the MFG applies against 2018-19 and it may not 
impact on a lot of schools – it is possible this has skewed the responses. There was 
an overwhelmingly positive response to question 1b (1% floor to be introduced if 
there is no transfer of funding).

 Clarification requested on the lump sum payment as there are a range of schools 
including first schools and middle schools. Jack Cutler clarified the payment would 
be a lump sum per school irrespective of type of school.

 Split site funding was queried – there is only 1 primary school this applies to. The 
impact of including that or not was discussed. The amount impacting on that school 
would be 66k from an equitable perspective should this be included or not. That 
particular school is not currently impacted by this potential funding adjustment.

 Some clarification requested around question 3b (approach that all schools should 
contribute to the transfer using the various levers proposed). The principle behind 
this question was how do we make it an equitable transfer. The responses were 
mixed but this could have been because there was some confusion around the 
question as there were a number of ‘not sures’. The Chair noted that if respondents 

Page 5



had not been at Forum meetings or been part of the working group it would have 
been difficult to understand the question. It was further noted by a Forum Member 
that feedback from colleagues in Christchurch was that it had been challenging to 
understand the questions in the survey. Nicola Webb commented they had worked 
through all the slides at the three consultation events and had responded to any 
queries on how the formula works. 

 Confirmation sought of whether there were any responses to suggest that schools 
are not happy with the principles to achieve a transfer. There had been discussion at 
the Formula sub group meetings about which formula factor to adjust in lever 5 and 
the Basic Entitlement had been seen as the most equitable. Nicola Webb noted that 
in Poole they had approached the DfE regarding taking a straight proportion of all 
budgets but the Government were not in agreement with this. 

 On Question 4 around scaling back the Basic Entitlement for affordability when final 
data has been received it was noted from some of the responses they may not have 
understood the technicalities of this question. Jack Cutler commented that there are 
a lot of nuances and intricacies to this making it difficult to tease out the impact on 
specific schools, with changing numbers on roll having the greatest impact on 
budgets.

 The Chair noted that it was worth pointing out that a lot of the spend of the HNB is 
now on young people between the ages of 19 – 25 which is new spend.

 The general view was that there is insufficient funding in the DSG. Active lobbying of 
Central Government is taking place about this issue.

 Some views were that any funds transferring into the HNB could mask the pressures 
there. Channelling extra monies into mainstream could also be risky as there is no 
evidence that strategy would work.

Shadow Schools Forum will be asked to consider the recommendations within the 
report after all reports have been presented. 

Final queries were raised as follows:

 In respect of question 3a (should all schools make a contribution to the transfer), 
where 9 respondents said no – were there any other suggestions put forward – it 
was confirmed that there were no other suggestions.

 Is there differing spend on HNB in different phases? Vicky Wales responded that it 
is not that there is no difference more that there is an increase in numbers of those 
with EHCPs as they move though the different phases. The most significant impact 
is as a result of the introduction of the new Code of Practice for Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities with the inclusion of 19 to 25 year olds. A Forum Member 
noted that she did not think it was equitable in regard to alternative provision as 
there were more pupils excluded from secondary schools. 

 What is the profile of BCP spend compared to others with a similar context? Vicky 
Wales responded that ISOS included that in their reviews last year and concluded 
that there is a need for us to reduce Independent Specialist placements as we have 
higher numbers of these. We also have fewer pupils with EHCPs within our 
mainstream schools when national comparisons are made so we have less pupils 
with SEND who access mainstream provision. 

 Where the spend increases as the young person gets older, how does that compare 
nationally? Vicky Wales noted that it is thought we are similar in this respect.

    

Page 6



6. CENTRAL SERVICES FOR ALL SCHOOLS

Nicola Webb presented the report in detail. Table 6 indicated the proposed budget for 
2019-20.

It was noted that these are budgets supporting all schools. Admissions will become one 
service for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) during next year and there will 
be opportunities to make savings but these will come over time, as current 
arrangements will need to continue for this current academic year, with Dorset 
continuing the process for Christchurch in the summer term. Other services will also be 
configured during next year. 

It was noted that it is important to recognise that some savings have already been 
made from this budget and more will be needed in 2020-21 as funding reduces further. 

Queries raised:
 How much choice do schools have over this? If there is a reduction then the LA will 

need to decide what it can provide to schools within what is agreed.
 Historic commitments - how long will they continue? Nicola Webb confirmed that 

one relates to pensions (Christchurch) so would continue while eligibility for  
payments continues. Neil Goddard confirmed that the Bournemouth ASD base will 
have 25 more years but this is an invest-to-save example and there could be similar 
options in the future. That particular route to fund it is no longer available, but this 
was a decision taken by Bournemouth Schools Forum previously.

7. HNB Transfer

Neil Goddard apologised for there not being a paper on what he was about to propose.  
This was because proposals were still being considered in the period leading up to the 
Forum meeting.

All have agreed that there is insufficient funding in the HNB to meet the need. The ideal 
outcome would be to attract more funding and that is being pursued through various 
routes, however we have to assume that no more DSG will be allocated for high needs 
for 2019-20.  

There is cumulative deficit of around £4.5m which the new LA will inherit and hold at 
risk. The focus today is on the predicted in year deficit of £5.4m. There is a lot planned 
to get to that point but that is the current position having reviewed all budgets 
thoroughly.  

There are a number of options to deal with this annual deficit:

 It could be left to grow to demonstrate to Government the difficulties we are under 
– this is not possible as the Council must be able to demonstrate a balanced 
budget, including the DSG for 2019/20 to comply with financial regulations.

 The LA could look to balance it by making some extremely difficult decisions about 
the HNB but would prefer to work in partnership with this Forum to explore 
possible options for a potential transfer from the schools block to the HNB.

 This Forum can approve a transfer of up to 0.5% of the schools block. Above this 
level, even with Forum support, approval must be sought from the Secretary of 
State.

Page 7



 The LA can choose to request a transfer above the level approved by the Forum 
by applying directly to the Secretary of State.

When the Formula Sub-Group of the Shadow Schools Forum met to consider how a 
transfer could be funded, it concluded that:

 If a transfer was to be made, then this should impact as equitably as possible on 
all schools

 A transfer of over 1.5% would not be achievable while maintaining this equitable 
impact.

The LA accepts both these principles and therefore if School’s Forum approves a 
transfer of at least 1.5%, it will not seek approval from the Secretary of State for a larger 
transfer.

A number of further points were made: 

 The High Needs report lists possible savings in the HNB to the level of 2.3m but 
these would be very difficult and unpalatable and could be counter productive if 
there are increases in Tribunal cases and costs.

 Historically Elected Members have taken the view that the LA will not contribute to 
DSG funding. This has been ringfenced with the expectation that Schools Forum 
will balance that budget.

 LAs have been hardest hit by austerity and pressures on demand led budgets so 
have had to make considerable savings across all services. However, there are a 
specific set of circumstances for us in 3 LAs coming together which have further 
impacted.

 Lead members have been consulted regarding the current difficulties in balancing 
high needs and there is an opportunity under these circumstances to discuss the 
possibility of a one-off contribution from LA resources to assist schools. This 
cannot be committed to today as there will be a political process which must be 
followed but there is a high expectation that it would be agreed. 

 Obtaining Elected Members agreement at full Council will be easier if Forum can 
agree a 1.5% contribution before Members are approached. Working as a 
partnership on this issue will maximise the opportunity and will result in more 
money going into the school system rather than high needs budgets being cut 
further. 

 It was noted that from a wider Council perspective there is a perception that there 
are healthy reserves in schools so there will be some level of challenge to the 
proposal from members less familiar with school funding arrangements. 

The Chair requested views and questions:

 Concern expressed with respect to the term “one-off” as this was also used last 
year in agreeing a funding transfer. It was clarified that the one-off proviso related 
to the contribution being offered by the LA rather than to the transfer agreed by 
Schools Forum last year. The reference to the monies referred to as the one-off 
from last year had since been put back into the schools budget and therefore the 
high needs funding gap is without any level of transfer. 

 It was acknowledged that not all schools had healthy reserves and some level is 
needed as part of sound financial management. The issue was raised to 
emphasise that in these exceptional circumstance Lead Members are proposing to 
make a contribution to the HNB but this needs to be agreed in the budget-setting 
process in February by a wider group of Elected Members.  

Page 8



 Clarity was requested of exactly what the LA may be offering as the one-off 
contribution. Neil Goddard noted that the offer would be made in the spirit of 
sharing the problem but as stated earlier cannot be confirmed today until due 
process has been followed. 

 Query raised that if the Forum did not agree to the transfer to the HNB would that 
mean Members would then not be minded to consider the one-off LA contribution? 
It was noted that the conversation with Members will be difficult either way but it is 
felt this is the right time and circumstances to make the request. That conversation 
would be significantly weakened if Forum have not agreed the transfer as it would 
call the partnership into question.

 The Chair queried if there are other groups in other areas making similar decisions 
ie Childrens or Adults Social Care. It was confirmed that there are other 
workstreams ongoing in those and other areas but these services are funded from 
within the LA total. The DSG is unique in requiring a partnership approach with 
schools.

 It was queried if the Forum could agree a 1.5% transfer with it conditionally that 
the Council make the contribution being proposed?  

 The history of schools working in partnership with the LA was acknowledged.
 The Council’s contribution would come from revenue as a one off item in the 

Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Councillor Greene confirmed that raising 
Council tax had been considered but this is now capped by the Government so is 
not an option.

 It was queried how we can be sure that the need for a transfer will not be 
repeated. It was stated that it is more about having a long-term strategy so we are 
better informed and have more certainty. Clearly, the high needs block is 
underfunded. 

 Timing of the Forum decision on the transfer was queried as this is new 
information and further conversations are necessary. 

 It was noted that the Transfer Report was good and very detailed however a 3 
year plan would be dependent on Government giving an additional £5.4m each 
year. This point was supported and the need to continue lobbying to address the 
overriding problem acknowledged. However, actions are in place to address some 
of the issues but the impact is not immediate. The underlying issues are growing 
numbers of EHCPs and exclusions and more 19 – 25 year olds requiring support. 
If we can agree a way forward now this will give us time to develop a longer term 
solution. 

 It was noted that it was felt that schools had not been given enough time for the 
consultation and queried why the second consultation questions (results tabled) 
were not part of the first one. It was stated that this was because there had not 
been sufficient time to provide all of the information at once and a staged 
approach was needed.  

 The Chair queried what decision was needed for today. It was stated that the 
sooner a decision regarding a transfer could be made the better as it would allow 
other conversations to progress with greater certainty. It would be helpful to 
establish whether Schools Forum could support some level of transfer with the 
amount to be determined in January.  

 There had been a perception that from the start of the process the LA had been 
intent on a transfer of 1.5% and this amount has been repeatedly modelled. Could 
the LA consider other levels of transfer? It was stated that all Forum members had 
come representing their groups in saying no to any transfer but if colleagues could 
go back to their groups with a compromise the response may be more positive. 
Neil Goddard responded that the LA had not aimed at 1.5% but that this had come 

Page 9



out from a range of considerations, it could possibly have been higher. The 
consultation had covered varying levels and it would be for Forum to make a 
decision on level. If we have a 3% shortfall 1.5% would share this out but that 
would be Forum’s decision.

 The Chair queried what the LA would do if Forum opposed the transfer. It was 
noted that in the context of the new LA a balanced budget must be set so the 
shortfall has to be found somehow and this could impact on HNB.

 It was queried that if we find a solution locally does that then undermine the 
message that the Government is simply not giving enough money to support the 
system. In response it was considered that cutting the budgets would mask the 
problem whereas finding funding for the need makes the shortfall completely 
transparent.  

 It was considered impressive that this group of Headteachers has come together 
so quickly and put in a huge amount of effort to work together on this issue. They 
are aware of the pressure for the LA but these decisions will impact on every child 
in the area and hence it will be difficult for Forum members to go back to the 
groups to get a decision without a commitment to the LA contribution.

 The Chair queried when the discussion with Members would take place. It was 
noted that the LA understands that timing has been difficult and it has taken time 
to get to this point. If LA officers can at least have an indication today then Lead 
Members will be able to progress their conversations. Council have a number of 
statutory responsibilities in a number of areas which they must fulfil.  It is not that 
they think children and young people are any less important but there are 
competing pressures.

 Sean Preston noted for the record that he had not come to today’s meeting with a 
‘no transfer’ remit from his group. However it was felt he was hearing that if Forum 
do not commit to the transfer then the LA contribution may not be forthcoming. 

 Cllr Greene noted an understanding that timing is very tight for Forum to make a 
decision but timing is very tight for BCP budgets. The BCP budget has to be 
published by 12 February so decisions need to be made very quickly.

 It was noted that high needs providers would struggle if the option to reduce their 
funding was implemented. 

 The Chair requested any queries regarding the table report (item 7 appendix).  It 
was noted that it was not representative due to the low number of responses 
collated and the timescale for a response should be increased.

 Forum were asked if they could agree in principle some sort of transfer to enable a 
better case to be presented to Councillors for their consideration.

The Chair put forward the following recommendations for Forum decision:

Agenda item 4 – recommendations from the HNB Financial Strategy Group

a) Continue to lobby central Government to ensure there is sufficient funding to 
ensure the DSG can cover the demand upon it.
Votes: For – 21 Abstentions – 1
AGEED BY MAJORITY

b) The Early Years sector needs to continue their focus on early identification and 
intervention ensuring consistent process across BCP.
Votes: For – 21 Abstentions – 1
AGEED BY MAJORITY

Page 10



c) Within BCP, banding needs to be clear and transparent and the impact on 
individual school budgets should be carefully considered to ensure equity and 
impact on schools’ budgets. A protection factor should be explored for 2019-20.
UNANIMOUSLY AGREED

d) Outreach services are an integral part of any financial strategy and clear targets 
linked to impact are required within a streamlined offer across BCP.
Votes: For – 21 Against – 1
AGEED BY MAJORITY

e) Permanent exclusion rates need to reduce through better collaboration and 
partnership work between schools, alternative provision providers and LA officers.
UNANIMOUSLY AGREED

f) BCP should continue to explore and develop capacity within the new authority to 
ensure value for money and reduce placements in the independent and non-
maintained sector including post 16 education.
UNANIMOUSLY AGREED

g) The HNB Financial Strategy Group needs to continue to meet to draw together a 
joint action plan to reduce the financial demands on the HNB. The group needs to 
monitor the impact of the action plan and report regularly to the shadow Schools 
Forum and from April 2019 to the BCP Schools Forum.
UNANIMOUSLY AGREED

Agenda item 6 – Central Services for all schools

a) The total budget for central services for all schools is to be set at the level of 
funding provided through the Central Services Block (estimated at £2,083,000)

 UNANIMOUSLY AGREED

b) The detail of individual budgets to be set as scheduled in Table 1 in paragraph 6 
with any residual surplus or shortfall allocated to LA Ex ESG statutory services.
UNANIMOUSLY AGREED

Agenda item 7 – Funding transfer from Schools Block to High Needs Block 2019-
20

a) In principle do Forum agree ‘some transfer,’ amount subject to further discussion.

In principle – ‘No transfer’
Votes: For – 5, Against – 6, Abstentions – 11

In principle – There could be a transfer (no conditions to be set today and once LA 
position has been established)
Votes: For – 18, Abstentions – 4
AGEED BY MAJORITY – Level subject to further consideration

Agenda item 5 – Mainstream School Formula – Recommended option for final 
proposals to be drawn up for January meeting.

Page 11



b) Are Forum happy with the recommendations included in the School Funding 
Consultation Paper in full (reminder this would include the split site factor being 
included within the minimum per pupil funding level – lever 1)? 
Votes: Against – 20

c) Should a final proposal be drawn up based on the general principles included 
within the Consultation?
Votes: For – 19, Abstention – 1

Discussion took place around inclusion or not of 66k Split Site funding (relating to 1 
primary school).

d) Do Forum accept the consultation method with the exception lever 1 is not used 
and other levers are adjusted appropriately with the split site funding included in 
the budget of the eligible school in addition to the minimum per pupil funding 
level?
Votes: For – 13, Against – 3, Abstentions – 4
AGREED BY MAJORITY

             
7. FORWARD PLAN

Not discussed.

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS
There was no other business. 

Chairman

Page 12



1

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTHCURCH and POOLE (BCP)
SHADOW SCHOOLS FORUM 

Subject DSG Settlement for BCP 2019-20 

Meeting Date 8 January 2019 

Report Author 

Nicola Webb – Assistant Chief Finance Officer Bournemouth 
& Poole Councils  
Email: nicola.webb@poole.gov.uk
Phone: 01202 63 3296

Contributors Vicky Wales – Head of Children, Young People & Learning, 
Poole 

Status Public

Classification For information   

Executive Summary

The initial DSG Settlement was received on 17 December 
2018. It provided:
1. Initial allocations for the Early Years Block (based on the 

January 2018 census). The draft budget will be updated to 
take into account local estimates of the 2019 and 2020 
January census points.     

2. Final allocations for the Schools Block based on the 
October 2018 schools census with the growth in pupil 
numbers providing an increase in funding of £2.2 million 
compared with the 2019-20 NFF based on the October 
2017 census. This is largely from the growth in secondary 
pupils in Bournemouth schools. The Growth Fund is 
greater than the minimum expected by £432k.

3. Final allocations for the Central School Services Block 
based on the October 2018 census with the increase in 
pupil numbers providing an additional £24k of funding. 
This increase was insufficient to cover the increase in 
charges for national DfE licenses of £39k. This means 
£15k less funding is available to support LA services. 

4. Initial allocations for the High Needs Block reflect BCP’s 
share of the national £125million at £798k. The relatively 
small funding element dependent on the January 2019 
census will be updated by the DfE in summer 2019. 

Recommendations To note the contents of the report. 

Reasons for 
Recommendations

Other papers consider the impact of the Settlement in more 
detail. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4

mailto:nicola.webb@poole.gov.uk


2

2019-20 DSG Settlement on 17 December 2018    
1. The December Settlement information compared with the budget for 2018-19  

and the draft 2019-20 budget in the October report is included in Table 1 below:  

Table 1 – DSG December Settlement 2019-20 
October
Report  
2019-20

Change 
from 

October 
Budget
2018-19

Forecast
2019-20

Annual 
Change %

£000’s £000’s

Funding Block

£000’s £000’s £000’s
Early Years

2,667 34 2 year olds Entitlement 2,542 2,701 159
17,630 750 3 year olds Entitlement 16,465 18,380 1,915

113 (13) Pupil Premium 113 100 (13)
70 4 Disability Access Fund (DAF) 70 74 4

20,480 775 Total Early Years 19,190 21,255 2,065 10.8
Schools Block

102,559 196 Primary 102,755
88,949 2,008 Secondary 90,957

191,508 2,204 Total NFF 186,856 193,712 6,856 3.7
1,785 12 Premises 1,801 1,797 (4)
1,374 432 Growth 2,331 1,806 (525) (22.5)

194,667 2,648 Total Schools 190,988 197,315 6,327 3.3
Central School Services

1,747 24 NFF 1,792 1,771 (21)
291 0 Commitments 291 291 0

2,038 24 Total Central School Services 2,083 2,062 (21) (1.0)
High Needs 

38,087 0 Estimated NFF Funding 37,543 38,087 544
798 Share of national £125m 798 798

38,087 798 Total High Needs 37,543 38,885 1,342 3.6
255,272 4,245 Total DSG Funding 249,804 259,517 9,713 3.9
The shaded columns detail draft funding in the October report with the change reflecting the 
comparison with the December Settlement.    

Early Years Block
2. The published information includes indicative allocations only and these will be 

updated in summer 2019 and 2020 based on future data returns.  
3. The estimated early years block funding for the free entitlements in 2019-20 in 

the draft budget at October was based on the 2017-18 academic year actual take 
up for 2, 3 and 4 year olds across BCP. 

4. The DfE in providing estimated funding for 2019-20 has used the January 2018 
early years census. These significantly higher figures for the 3&4 entitlement 
reflect the growth in take up seen locally for the extra 15 hours (for working 
parents) between the autumn and spring terms of 2017-18 as the new policy 
started to become embedded in the sector.      

Page 14



3

5. The Pupil Premium and DAF have not been updated by the DfE to reflect the 
addition of Christchurch pupils. The October local estimate used the amounts 
disaggregated from Dorset’s 2018-19 budget. 

6. Early years funding will be updated from census take up of free entitlement hours 
in January 2019 and January 2020, with all funding being finalised in summer 
2020. The BCP final budget for 2019-20 will be based on the latest local estimate 
of take up at each census point.        

Schools Block 

7. School Block allocations are now final for 2019-20 with mainstream school NFF 
allocations updated to reflect pupil numbers at the October 2018 census and with 
Growth Fund allocations determined according to the new national approach. 

8. The final unit values for the mainstream NFF for BCP have been confirmed, with 
little change from those estimated in the draft budget at October. The mainstream 
NFF totals compared with the October report (which used 2018-19 pupil numbers 
to isolate the impact of NFF unit value changes at £4.7m) are shown in Table 2 
below. Rising pupil numbers providing further funding of £2.2m with the increase 
between years being £6.9m overall (3.7%). 

Table 2: Mainstream Schools Final NFF 2019-20     
October Report December Settlement Change

Pupil 
Numbers

Unit 
Value £

Funding
£000’s

Pupil 
Numbers

Unit 
Value £

Funding
£000’s

Funding 
£000’s

Primary 27,615 £3,714 102,559 27,669 £3,714 102,755 196
Secondary 17,782 £5,002 88,949 18,182 £5,003 90,957 2,008
Total NFF 191,508 193,712 2,204

9. The October 2018 census contained an additional 454 pupils compared with the 
previous year, comprising 54 primary and 400 secondary. This growth is 
continuing in September 2019 with the Growth Fund paper on the agenda 
considering how this in-year growth is to be funded.

10.Updated school data from the October 2018 census is not reflected in the NFF 
primary and secondary units of funding until 2020-21. The school level census 
data used to calculate individual school budgets arrived on 19 December. The 
affordability of proposals considered at the December meeting are in the process 
of being evaluated.   

11.The Growth Fund allocation at £1.8m is higher than the forecast at October by 
£432k. The forecast was set at the announced protected minimum funding level. 
The final allocation however is lower than 2018-19 by £0.5m. The Growth Fund 
paper considers this allocation in more detail.   

Page 15



4

Central School Services Block (CSSB)
12.The funding rates for the Central School Services Block are as forecast in the 

December report. 
13.The rise in pupil numbers at census has increased the funding available for on-

going functions by £24k but the DfE charges for licenses have been notified with 
an increase of £39k. This reduces the amount available for LA functions by £15k.       

High Needs Block
14.The High Needs Block allocations include the BCP share of the national £125m 

additional funding at £0.8m. This reduces the high needs funding gap identified in 
the December report of £5.4m to £4.6m. The separate report on the agenda 
considers how this remaining gap can be closed. Additional funding at the same 
level has been provided for 2018-19 and this will reduce the forecast deficits at 
March 2019 for Bournemouth and Dorset.   
  

15.The total BCP funding allocation is estimated at £38.9m with one element 
(import/export adjustment) of the published information to be updated in the 
summer 2019. The adjustment currently uses the January 2018 census data with 
Christchurch pupils not yet reflected in the calculations for BCP. The final 
allocation will be adjusted for all LAs to reflect the January 2019 census 
information. In the meantime, a local estimate has been made of this negative 
adjustment based on data provided by the DfE and recent trends. The Dorset LA 
has made a similar (but opposite) adjustment in their budget planning. 

Recommendations 
16.  To note the contents of the report. 

Legal Implications
17.Schools Forum must be advised of the DSG Settlement. 

Background Papers
None

Page 16



1

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH and POOLE Agenda Item 
SHADOW SCHOOLS FORUM 

Subject DEVELOPMENT OF THE EARLY YEARS SINGLE 
FUNDING FORMULA (EYSFF)  2019-20

Meeting Date 8 January 2019

Report Author (s) Amanda Gridley (Early Years Services Manager)
Email: a.gridley@poole.gov.uk
Phone: 01202 261925

Contributors Vicky Wales
Steve Ellis
Nicola Webb 

Status Public

Classification For consultation and decision 

Executive 
Summary

A new Early Years Single Funding Formula (EYSFF) for BCP 
is required for April 2019. 

A group of provider representatives from Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole (BCP) helped to shape proposals 
which have now been consulted on with providers across 
BCP. The consultation response may be seen in Appendix A.

Recommendations The Shadow Schools Forum (SSF) is asked to approve and 
recommend to Shadow Council the proposed EYSFF.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

Despite some reservations highlighted by providers 
throughout the consultation the responses show that 
providers are generally in agreement with the proposed new 
EYSFF. 

BACKGROUND

1. From 1 April 2019 the new BCP Council will be required to operate a single 
EYSFF, which will mean changes to the funding rates paid to all providers. In 
November 2018 a set of principles and proposals for a new EYSFF was 
presented to Shadow Forum. A group of provider representatives have 
supported the development of this work and a consultation has taken place with 
providers across BCP. 

CONSULTATION PROCESS

2. The consultation opened on 14 November 2018 and closed on 7  
December 2018.  6 consultation events took place across BCP, attended by a 
total of 137 providers.  An online survey was distributed to all providers across 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



2

BCP for completion (369 in total). Three reminder emails encouraging 
participation were issued during the consultation period. Hard copies of the 
survey were also available on request and during the consultation events.

CONSULTATION OUTCOME

Total issued    369

Type of Setting Total 
Issued

Response 
(Number)

Response
(%)

All Respondents 369 98 27%
Childminders 210 52 25%
Day Nursery 73 23 32%
Pre School 68 19 28%
School Nursery 11 3 27%
Independent Nursery 7 1 14%

3. The consultation received a 27% response rate.

4. The responses show that the majority of providers broadly agreed with the 
principles set out in the consultation although some dissatisfaction was 
expressed regarding the proposed base rate. Providers were united in 
communicating that the Government’s funding rate of £4.30 for 3 and 4 year 
olds is too low. BCP officers recognise the significant challenge that this 
presents to the sector, although this sits outside Local Government control. 

5. BCP’s commitment to keeping central retention to a minimum in order to 
maximise base rate was well received by the sector. 

EYSFF SUPPLEMENTS

6. A clear majority of responses supported the use of just the mandatory 
deprivation supplement within the new EYSFF and there was support for the 
supplement following children previously funded as 2 year olds and those in 
receipt of Early Years Pupil Premium Funding (EYPP).

7. The proposed deprivation supplement rate of 53p received a mixed response 
from providers. 59% agreed, 27% disagreed and 14% were not sure. 
Comments from those disagreeing reflected that providers would like to see 
more in the base rate and less in the supplement.

8. While modelling the possible outcomes of the new EYSFF, BCP officers were 
keen to create a formula which retained financial stability and resulted in the 

Page 18



3

least amount of financial losses to providers across BCP. The 53p supplement 
option (3% of the EYSFF) forecast the least number of providers negatively 
impacted across the new council as a whole and BCP is minded to proceed 
with the level proposed.

9. To support engagement of EYPP, BCP will take steps to renew marketing of 
benefits of EYPP once the new council is in operation.

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES (SEND) FUNDING

10. The proposals that there should be 2 tiers of SEND funding with payments 
matched to the number of funded hours attended were supported although 
some providers were concerned that criteria has not yet been set. This work is 
currently ongoing and will be shared with BCP provider representatives in 
January 2019.

11. Several provider comments reflected that the tiers of funding proposed, £2.00 
and £6.30 would not cover 1:1 support for children. Providers are reminded in 
the BCP response that Early Years SEND payments are not intended to cover 
the cost of 1:1 care. The funding is a contribution to the cost of supporting 
individual children and should be seen in conjunction with other funding already 
received for that child.  See table below:

12. While providers would like to see higher rates of SEND funding, to do so would 
require a reduction in the base rate which would be too detrimental to the 
sector as a whole.

13. BCP is recommending children with SEND are funded at the rates proposed in 
the consultation, matching the funded entitlement hours attended by the child.

Page 19



4

PROVIDER PROTECTION

14. Providers were asked their views on an element of protection to limit funding 
turbulence. While some providers would be protected, there would need to be a 
reduction in the base rate of 3p to achieve this. The majority of providers 
agreed that to include a protection element within the EYSFF would be too 
detrimental to the sector as a whole.

15. BCP is recommending a protection supplement is not included within the new 
EYSFF.

GENERAL COMMENTS AND CONCERNS RAISED BY PROVIDERS THROUGH 
CONSULTATION

16. 1% Contribution to the High Needs Block
This contribution does have a negative impact on the base rate for providers 
and officers are aware that this council decision is challenging for the sector. 
Officers recognise that the introduction of the new EYSFF will cause some 
financial turbulence across BCP and are keen to support the sector by keeping 
the High Needs contribution to a minimum at 1%.

17.  Removal of the word ‘Free’ from BCP marketing materials
Providers expressed strong views that the ‘Free’ Entitlement is no longer ‘Free’ 
to parents as government funding rates are too low for providers to operate 
efficiently and additional charges to parents are unavoidable. Providers were 
keen to express concern about the rising costs of running a business, including 
increases in minimum wage and pensions while government funding is not 
increasing.  There was a general consensus that BCP could help by removing 
the work ‘Free’ from marketing materials and to make it clear to parents that 
they should expect to pay some fees.

18. Officers are seeking written guidance from the DfE concerning the word ‘Free’ 
and are fully aware that that several Local Authorities have replaced the word 
‘Free’ with ‘Funded’ in their marketing materials. In the meantime BCP is 
committed to ensuring parents are made aware, through marketing, that they 
should expect to make a financial contribution to costs outside of early 
education towards the care of their children. BCP has a legal obligation to 
ensure that any additional charges made to parents are not a condition of 
accessing a place with a provider.

19. Officers will discuss this matter further with BCP provider representatives in 
January 2019.

Page 20



5

PROPOSED BCP EYSFF FOR 2019/20

20. With the majority of responses in favour of proposals Officers would like to 
propose that the EYSFF as outlined below is agreed and recommended to 
council for approval.

Government Rate Provider Rate

£4.30
Base Rate £4.00 £4.00 Every child
Deprivation Supplement £0.13 £0.53 Per eligible child

SEN/D Inclusion Fund £0.11 £2.00 or £6.30 Per eligible child
HNB Contribution £0.04
Central Functions £0.02

Government Rate Provider Rate

£5.23
Base Rate £4.95 £4.95 Every eligible 2yo

SEN/D Inclusion Fund £0.07 £2.00 or £6.30 Per eligible child
HNB Contribution £0.05
Central Functions £0.16

3 and 4 year olds

2 year olds

21.  The formula will be monitored closely by BCP officers and provider 
representative and will be reviewed again for 2020/21.

IMPACT ON PROVIDERS

22. This will be a significant change in funding for all providers. Officers are fully 
aware that the impact of the proposal will be challenging financially for some 
providers, although are confident that all options have been fully explored and 
consulted on to ensure the least possible number of losses across BCP.

23. To support the sector through what will be a challenging year BCP officers plan 
to commission Childcare Works to deliver some business planning and support 
sessions, targeted towards those providers experiencing the largest financial 
losses.

24. Providers are keen to continue to lobby central government for an increase in 
funding to the sector.

Page 21



6

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Shadow Schools Forum (SSF) is asked to approve and recommend to 
Shadow Council the proposed EYSFF 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

25. The LA must ensure compliance with Early Years National Funding Formula 
Operational Guidance 2018. 

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A  Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, Proposed Change to the Early 
Years Single Funding Formula for the Free Entitlement for 2,3 and 4 year olds from 
April 2019.  Outcomes and analysis of consultation December 2018.

Page 22



APPENDIX A

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole

Proposed Changes to the Early Years Single Funding 
Formula for the Free Early Entitlement for 2, 3 and 4 Year 
Olds from April 2019 

Outcomes and Analysis of the Consultation
December 2018

Page 23



2

Agree Disagree Not Sure 

The consultation paper and online link for response was emailed, on 14 November, to 369 
providers within the current local authorities of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
(BCP). 3 reminders encouraging participation were issued during the consultation period.

Total issued    369

Type of Setting Total Issued Response 
(Number)

Response
(%)

All Respondents 369 98 27%
Childminders 210 52 25%
Day Nursery 73 23 32%
Pre School 68 19 28%
School Nursery 11 3 27%
Independent Nursery 7 1 14%

The outcome from each question asked within the consultation is summarised below, with a 
BCP response to the feedback left by providers.

Q1. Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Priorities
Do you agree with these priorities? 

Feedback from Providers
The majority of providers that responded agreed with the priorities BCP had set when 
creating a new EYSFF for the new council.

The responses that did not agree raised concern over the proposed base rate, the pending 
rises in other costs running a business and the level of supplements.  There was comment 
that the priorities did not provide equality across all children in attendance. 2 providers felt 
that the proposal fulfilled none of the priorities; that the governments funding rate of £4.30 
was too low and that children with need, as described in the priorities are already supported 

Type of Setting Agree Disagree Not Sure 

All Respondents (98) 82 
(84%)

7       
(7%)

9       
(9%)

Childminders (52) 45 
(86%)

1       
(2%)

6     
(12%)

Day Nursery (23) 16 
(69%)

5     
(22%)

2       
(9%)

Pre School (19) 17 
(89%)

1    
(5.5%)

1    
(5.5%)

School Nursery (3) 3 
(100%) - -

Independent Nursery (1) 1 
(100%) - -

Page 24



3

Agree Disagree Not Sure 

by other means through government.  Another provider felt the SEND funding for every hour 
priority is not achievable at the hourly rate proposed in the document.

Local Authority Response
As a clear majority of respondents agreed with the priorities BCP set, the proposed formula 
used to distribute the funding is found to have been accepted. BCP is committed to keeping 
the central retention of funds to a minimum, keeping the pass through rate at 98%, above 
the minimum allowable of 95%. It is clear from the consultation that providers are united in 
communicating that the governments £4.30 for 3 and 4 year olds is too low.  BCP 
recognises the challenges that this presents the early years market.  This is outside the 
influence of BCP and the focus of this consultation is the distribution of the £4.30.  

The deprivation supplement in 2019/20 is a mandatory part of the formula. BCP propose to 
minimise the administration of the supplement (thus passing more on to providers) and  
having the supplement follow the child does give some forecasting ability for a provider for 
children transitioning from 2 year funded to 3 and 4 year funded. 

SEND funding is proposed to pay for every hour a child attends, up to 30 hours, which is a 
statutory requirement set by the DfE. 

Q2.  Use of Supplements
Do you agree that BCP should use only the mandatory deprivation 
supplement from the list of allowable factors above in the new EYSFF to 
maximise the base rate? 

Feedback from Providers
The majority of providers that responded agreed that only 1 supplement should be used for 
the formula.  Of those that were unable to agree, most were unsure.  Of those that 
disagreed, 1 shared the opinion that quality should be included, however misunderstood 
that the supplement was not linked with the Ofsted outcome during inspection. 2 providers 
felt the deprivation supplement should be 1p and the determination of eligibility is based on 
parent’s needs rather than the child’s needs. Another shared the opinion that flexibility and 
rurality still had importance.

Type of Setting Agree Disagree Not Sure 

All Respondents (98) 81 
(83%)

5       
(5%)

12   
(12%)

Childminders (52) 42 
(81%) - 10   

(19%)

Day Nursery (23) 18 
(78%)

4     
(17.5%)

1    
(4.5%) 

Pre School (19) 18 
(95%) - 1       

(5%)

School Nursery (3) 2   
(67%)

1     
(33%) -

Independent Nursery (1) 1 
(100%) - -

Page 25



4

Agree Disagree Not Sure 

Local Authority Response
As a clear majority of respondents agreed with the proposal, the use of only 1 supplement, 
from the range made available by the DfE, is found to have been accepted by the sector. 
The quality supplement is to support workforce development, rather than added support 
given for a good or outstanding Ofsted inspection. Some entitlement to EYPP or 2 year 
funding does in fact rely on a child’s status, but clearly if household income a measure of 
deprivation (albeit determined at a point in time), there needs to be an assessment of 
parental income. Quality, flexibility and rurality had been mentioned once in this document 
as a whole and, as such, BCP is minded to use only a deprivation supplement for the 
EYSFF 2019/20.

Q3. Measure of Deprivation
Do you agree that the deprivation supplement should follow those children 
that formerly accessed funding as 2 year olds and/or currently an EYPP 
child? 

Feedback from Providers

The majority of providers that responded agreed with the proposal.  Those that did not 
agree fed back concerns that the family circumstances of some children will have changed 
between the ages of 2 and 3 or 4 and that a deprivation supplement may no longer be 
appropriate for those children.  Conversely there would be other children that did not qualify 
for 2 year old funding originally, have a change in family circumstances and that change 
was not significant enough for EYPP to be applicable as a 3 or 4 year old. 10 providers 
would like eligibility to be reassessed to ensure the supplement reaches the correct children 
and two providers were concerned that the supplement wasn’t going to reach children 
where the parents had been eligible for 2 year funding, but elected not to take up the 
entitlement.

Local Authority Response
A clear majority of respondents agreed with the proposal that the deprivation supplement is 
paid to those that were formerly a funded 2 year old or a current EYPP child. Providers that 
disagreed were concerned that children transition to be ‘no longer deprived’ or chose not to 
take up an entitlement earlier in their child’s early education.  Those children that had 

Type of Setting Agree Disagree Not Sure 

All Respondents (98) 75 
(77%)

13   
(13%)

10   
(10%)

Childminders (52) 37 
(71%)

6     
(12%)

9     
(17%)

Day Nursery (23) 16 
(70%)

6     
(26%)

1       
(4%)

Pre School (19) 18 
(95%)

1       
(5%) -

School Nursery (3) 3 
(100%) - -

Independent Nursery (1) 1 
(100%) - -

Page 26



5

Agree Disagree Not Sure 

received 2 year old funding and are eligible for EYPP are the lowest achieving group at the 
end of the Early Years Foundation Stage.  Targeting the mandatory deprivation fund for 
children demonstrated improvements in children’s outcome. 

While it is acknowledged that there will be children that fall in and out of entitlement, the 
supplement will still reach the vast majority, while minimising administration for BCP and 
providers.  As such, BCP is minded to add a deprivation supplement to the record of 
children that had formerly been funded as a 2 year old (with any BCP provider), or those 
that qualify for EYPP as a 3 or 4 year old. 

Q4. Funding Rate for Deprivation
Do you agree that the deprivation level set at 3% (53p) gives the right 
balance between supporting children and financially protecting providers?

Feedback from Providers
The majority of providers that responded agreed with the proposed rate, although 
approximately a quarter of respondents disagreed. Of those that disagreed there were 12 
providers commented that the supplement should be lowered to increase the base rate for 
all providers which would support sustainability and benefit all children with a provider. 
Without a higher base rate, all children will in some way be disadvantaged. 2 providers were 
concerned that their 2 year old cohort is so small, they would not benefit from an enhanced 
funding rate for many children at all, threatening their sustainability moving from their 
current funding rate. Others stated that the change in base rate, due to high Deprivation 
supplement would mean the charges they attach to funded hours would have to rise to 
counter the fall in base rate year on year.  4 providers suggested an alternative rate varying 
between 0.2% and 1% of the EYSFF, but the majority of those that disagreed wished to see 
a lower deprivation rate than that proposed. 1 provider felt that EYPP engagement for 
children of deprivation was poor.  

Local Authority Response
The majority of respondents agreed with the proposed rate of 53pph.  When modelling the 
possible outcomes of a new EYSFF, BCP officers had specifically looked at how changing 
the percentage rate of deprivation up or down would affect the BCP early years sector as a 
whole.  From the options modelled and shared in the consultation document, the 3% (53p) 

Type of Setting Agree Disagree Not Sure 

All Respondents (98) 58 
(59%)

26   
(27%)

14   
(14%)

Childminders (52) 30 
(58%)

12   
(23%)

10   
(19%)

Day Nursery (23) 12 
(52%)

10   
(43.5%)

1       
(4.5%)

Pre School (19) 12 
(63%)

4     
(21%)

3     
(16%)

School Nursery (3) 3 
(100%) - -

Independent Nursery (1) 1 
(100%) - -

Page 27



6

Agree Disagree Not Sure 

model saw the least negative effect on the sector as a whole.  Proposing the supplement as 
53pph rather than an alternative amount, thus placing more in the base rate, does have an 
impact, but the impact is felt by the least number of providers overall.  To support 
engagement of EYPP, BCP will take steps to renew marketing of the benefits of EYPP once 
the new council is in operation.

While the majority agree, with 26 of a potential 369 providers responding with a 
disagreement BCP recognises the challenges for providers.  Given that the proposed rate 
results in the fewest providers negatively impacted, BCP is minded to use 13p of the EYSFF 
and add a 53p deprivation supplement to eligible children.

Q5. SEND Funded Hours
Do you agree that the SEND funding paid should match the number of early 
entitlement hours in attendance? 

Feedback from providers
The majority of providers agreed with this proposal. Of those that disagreed, 3 commented 
that the rates proposed were not adequate or not enough to cover 1 to 1 care whilst 2 
providers raised inequality for SEND children that do not qualify for more than the universal 
15hrs per week (yet attend over 15hrs and privately pay for those added hours), suggesting 
that in fairness 15 hours should be the maximum funded hours per week. 2 providers felt 
SEND should not be funded from the EYSFF at all at the expense of universal early 
education funding. 1 preference was to fund a maximum of 15hrs, reducing the needs 
placed upon the SEND budget.

Local Authority Response
A clear majority of respondents agreed to the proposal that SEND funding should be 
matched to funded entitlement hours.  The comments on 1:1 care will be addressed under 
Q6, below.  Some parents may not use their full 30hrs entitlement if there was a limit to the 
SEND support in place and, with the majority of those that responded approving this 
proposal, BCP is minded to match SEND funding to every funded hours accessed for 2, 3 
and 4 year olds.  

Type of Setting Agree Disagree Not Sure 

All Respondents (98) 78 
(80%)

9       
(9%)

11   
(11%)

Childminders (52) 43 
(83%)

1       
(2%)

8     
(15%)

Day Nursery (23) 17 
(74%)

5     
(22%)

1       
(4%)

Pre School (19) 14 
(73.5%) 

3       
(15.5%)

2       
(1%)

School Nursery (3) 3 
(100%) - -

Independent Nursery (1) 1 
(100%) - -

Page 28



7

Agree Disagree Not Sure 

Q6. SEND Funding Rates
Do you agree that the level of inclusion fund proposed will provide the right 
balance between supporting your work with children with SEND and 
maximising the EYSFF for all children? 

Feedback from Providers
Although the majority of providers that responded agree with this proposal, 29% disagreed 
and 19% were unsure. Several were unable to make an informed decision to this proposal 
as they hadn’t received any information on the criteria for the entitlement.  13 providers felt 
the Inclusion Budget was too high, preferring more in the base rate for all children. 7 
respondents were concerned that the hourly rate was too low to support children with 
SEND, comparing the hourly rate proposed to the cost of 1:1 support. 1 provider suggested 
mitigating the level of funding BCP proposes with greater support by the local authority to 
providers that have SEND children. Providing an advice line, more qualified SENCO’s and 
information for providers on other sources of funding available (charitable organisations 
linked with specific disabilities). 2 providers suggested reducing the SEND budget, per the 
supplied table in the document, to accommodate at least £4.02 as a base rate.

Local Authority Response
A smaller majority of respondents agreed with this proposal.  The criteria for the 2 tiers of 
funding will be made available to providers in the New Year. Several respondents 
highlighted the hourly rate compared to the cost of 1:1 care however the inclusion fund is 
not intended to cover the cost of 1:1 care.  To increase SEND funding payments there 
would need to be a reduction in the base rate. Providers should consider that this is a 
contribution to the delivery cost and should be seen in conjunction with the funding already 
received for the child.  Potential examples below:

The comments regarding more information, advice and guidance for providers will be 
shared with the relevant teams under BCP. 

Type of Setting Agree Disagree Not Sure 

All Respondents (98) 51 
(52%)

28   
(29%)

19   
(19%)

Childminders (52) 31 
(60%)

7     
(13%)

14   
(27%)

Day Nursery (23) 10 
(43.5%)

12   
(52%)

1    
(4.5%)

Pre School (19) 6   
(32%)

9     
(47%)

4     
(21%)

School Nursery (3) 3 
(100%) - -

Independent Nursery (1) 1 
(100%) - -

Page 29



8

Agree Disagree Not Sure 

With 28 of a potential 369 providers disagreeing, BCP is minded to fund SEND children at a 
rate of £2.00 and £6.30 per funded hour as a contribution to the required added care, per 
criteria which is to be confirmed.

Q7. EYSFF from April 2019
The funding supplied to BCP by government will not change. Do you agree 
that BCP has achieved a good balance proposed for the EYSFF? 

Feedback from Providers
Although the majority of providers that responded agree BCP that has achieved a good 
balance, 35% disagreed and 13% were unsure. 30 providers cited the low base rate level 
and several in turn voiced that there was a serious threat to the viability of trading from April. 
5 providers felt the 5p contribution to High Needs needed reviewing, within any reduction 
placed back into the base rate.  Several repeated that the SEND element was too high and 
a third of those disagreeing stated that a lower Deprivation supplement should be 
considered (achievement and attainment will still be found if all children are treated equally).  
11 providers are very concerned with the 2019 rises in minimum wage, pensions and other 
running costs. 4 providers also raised the word ‘free’ in their comments, explaining that their 
charges to parents will need to rise to ensure viability and that the public need a better 
understanding of the childcare funding position.

Local Authority Response
A majority of respondents agreed, however this question raised the most disagreements in 
the consultation.  We know that the £4.30 received by government is not going to increase 
in the final year of the 3 year budget from the DfE. Many providers are experiencing 
demand on that £4.30 that had not been there before, as described throughout the 
consultation paper.  

Several expressed levels of monetary loss for their provision which is regrettable, however 
in some instances providers may not have considered the average rate potentially received 
across all children (including those with a deprivation supplement of 53pph) in those 
calculations.  Providers that find a loss of income year on year should be aware that 1 
further 30hr child could bring an additional income of between £4,560 and £5,164 per year 
and attracting those new children should be part of any business plan going forward. 

Type of Setting Agree Disagree Not Sure 

All Respondents (98) 51 
(52%)

34   
(35%)

13   
(13%)

Childminders (52) 30 
(58%)

13   
(25%)

9     
(17%)

Day Nursery (23) 9   
(39%)

13   
(57%)

1       
(4%)

Pre School (19) 8   
(42%)

8     
(42%)

3     
(16%)

School Nursery (3) 3 
(100%) - -

Independent Nursery (1) 1 
(100%) - -

Page 30



9

Agree Disagree Not Sure 

The contribution to High Needs does have an impact on the base rate and BCP officers are 
fully aware that this is a difficult decision for the Council. Providers are aware that the 
proportion of contribution or any at all, is a decision made by Elected Members.  Appeals by 
providers to lower the SEND rates and deprivation supplement rate are referenced above.

The rising costs for providers running their own business are recognised, however the 
funding rate given to the BCP will not rise. The Local Authority is seeking written advice 
from the DfE concerning the word ‘Free’ and is fully aware of the move to ‘Funded’ by 
several Local Authorities in England. In the meantime, BCP is committed to ensuring 
parents are made aware that they should expect to make a contribution to costs, beyond the 
free early education part of care, through marketing, a new parent/carer declaration form 
and the website.  It is important to flag that all Local Authorities regardless of ‘Free’ or 
‘Funded’ have a statutory obligation to ensure that any charges raised are not a condition of 
accessing a place with a provider.  BCP officers are aware that providers are proactive in 
lobbying government in respect of changes to the text of statutory guidance, removal of 
business rates and increased funding rates to the sector. 

With 34 of a potential 369 providers disagreeing, BCP is recommended to implement the 
EYSFF proposed in the consultation is implemented with effect from 1 April 2019.

Q8.  Potential Protection to Limit Funding Turbulence
Protecting some providers will lower the base rate by 3p; do you therefore 
agree that a protection supplement should not be included within the 
EYSFF? 

Feedback from Providers
The majority of providers agreed with this proposal. Of those that disagreed, feedback was 
given by concerned childminders expecting a reduction in early education funding, 
expressing the hard work they put in to ready children for school whilst in the main being a 
lone worker. 2 providers acknowledged the protection given would ultimately mean a lower 
base rate, but clearly exclaimed the reduction in early education funding would have to be 
passed to parents; affecting children of deprivation SEND most.

Type of Setting Agree Disagree Not Sure 

All Respondents (98) 76 
(78%)

8       
(8%)

14   
(14%)

Childminders (52) 38 
(73%)

4       
(8%)

10   
(19%)

Day Nursery (23) 19 
(83%)

3     
(13%)

1       
(4%)

Pre School (19) 15 
(79%)

1       
(5%)

3     
(16%)

School Nursery (3) 3 
(100%) - -

Independent Nursery (1) 1 
(100%) - -

Page 31



10

Local Authority Response
A clear majority of respondents agreed with the proposal that there should not be a 
protection supplement at the cost of a lower base rate. BCP acknowledges the hard work 
from all providers in giving our children the best start to their education. The references to 
the base rate have been acknowledged above. Therefore BCP is minded not to include a 
protection supplement as part of the new EYSFF.

Q9.  Additional Comments

Feedback from Providers
There were 41 additional comments left by providers, the majority of which restated those 
comments left throughout the consultation. 8 comments cited the base rate proposed for 
BCP and 7 questioned the contribution to High Needs. 7 providers mentioned central 
government acknowledging the £4.30 was a government decision and seeking removal of 
the word ‘free’. A provider wished to highlight that childminders should be allowed a ratio of 
1:4, which would support their business. Another provider asked if the proposed EYSFF 
could be phased in over several terms to reduce the impact. 2 providers asked why the 
central retention for 2 year old funding was a much higher percentage than that of 3 and 4 
year old funding.  Some providers were concerned that the proposal makes it more difficult 
to recruit highly qualified staff or threatens the quality of a provision. 

Many respondents felt the proposed rates, combined with other rising costs from April, were 
a serious threat to sustainability leaving no choice but to raise charges for parents 
accessing the entitlement. Some wanted to express that there is too much funded childcare 
for parents or that the criteria for some working families is set too high, meaning less 
funding for those that need it.  

Local Authority Response
Many providers used this opportunity to express their concerns with the proposals and to 
emphasise that there is not enough funding allocated to the sector from central government.  
BCP officers have worked closely with provider representatives to present a new EYSFF but 
it is of course impossible to satisfy every provider.  There is only £4.30 available and £5.23 
for 2 year olds and bringing together 3 varying formulas across BCP for 2019 has been a 
challenge.  It is acknowledged there are providers negatively affected by the new formula. 
EYSFF was drafted with genuine intention to have the very least impact on the providers for 
BCP.  BCP is committed to supporting all providers and will engage positively with those 
that request business support through local, national and DfE links. 

A phased approach over several terms was explored by officers, however there was a 
requirement that every provider received the same funding rate for April 2019 and protection 
in itself was discounted due to the potential reduction in base rate required. In terms of the 
central retention being higher from the 2 year olds budget, this is because there is more 
work involved with marketing and administering entitlement but also that proportionately the 
budget for 3 and 4 years olds and 2 year olds is very different in scale. Several comments 
through the consultation related to government policy, rather than things that could be 
affected locally. Those providers are encouraged to raise their points directly to the DfE.

2019/20 is the third year of the DfE’s three year early year funding allocation.  The 
governments spending review for 2020 funding takes place next year, by which time there 
may be a new funding rate for BCP to consult upon. 

Page 32



1

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH and POOLE 
SHADOW SCHOOLS FORUM 

Subject GROWTH FUNDING 2019-20

Meeting Date 8 January 2019

Report Author 

Jack Cutler, Planning and Statistics Officer, Community 
Learning and Commissioning, Bournemouth
Email: Jack.cutler@bournemouth.gov.uk
Phone: 01202 456141

Contributors

Neil Goddard, Service Director, Community Learning and 
Commissioning, Bournemouth
Vicky Wales, Head of Children, Young People and Learning, 
Poole
Nicola Webb, Assistant Chief Finance Officer, Bournemouth 
& Poole

Status Public

Classification For decision by School Members  

Executive Summary

The LA has been allocated £1.806m through the Growth 
Fund within the School Block, an increase from the budget 
planning assumption (£1.374m) of £0.432m.  
Growth funding is provided to mainstream schools either 
through the formula (implicit growth for increasing year 
groups) using estimated September 2019 pupil numbers or as 
a separate allocation outside of the formula (explicit growth 
for increases to planned admission numbers (PAN) or start-
up funding).  
Explicit growth funding must be set at a local level through an 
established funding policy. This paper sets out proposals for 
this policy across BCP for 2019-20.
Under the proposed policy the total funding for growth 
(implicit and explicit) is estimated at £1.144m. This leaves 
£0.662m remaining for either the mainstream school formula 
funding or to contribute towards any transfer to High Needs.

Recommendations 1. The current Growth Fund policies of the 3 existing LAs are 
to continue for the relevant schools for 2019-20 with a 
central budget allowance of £779k. 

2. A consistent Growth Fund policy is to be established for 
BCP for 2020-21.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

The existing policies were considered by the Budget 
Reference Group with the view expressed that funding 
turbulence should be kept to a minimum for individual schools 
due to the short notification of any potential change.

Page 33

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Jack.cutler@bournemouth.gov.uk


2

1. BACKGROUND – FUNDING FOR GROWTH WITHIN THE DSG

1.1. As in previous years, funding for growth has been included within the DSG 
Schools Block. In 2018-19, this funding was allocated based on the amount of 
funding for growth that was allocated within the local authority area in 2017-
18. The Department for Education have recognised that this is not a long-term 
solution, since it assumes future growth will follow the same pattern as past 
growth. Plus nationally, more growth is now moving into key stage 3, where 
funding needs are greater.

1.2. For 2019-20, growth funding has been allocated based on a formulaic 
approach, with transitional protections in place; it was confirmed in December 
2018 that BCP will receive £1.806m through this factor. This is £0.525 million 
less than 2018-19 but more than the than the £1.374m protected level 
assumed in budget planning by £0.432m 

1.3. The change in the allocation method to Local Authorities (LA’s) has not 
changed the way LA’s can allocate funding locally. As the growth fund still lies 
within the Schools’ Block, virement of funds from the schools’ formula into this 
fund is not considered a movement between Blocks.

1.4. Funding through this factor is intended to be assigned to schools to support 
significant in-year pupil growth, which is not otherwise immediately 
recognised through the lagged funding system. This could be to:
 Support growth in pre-16 pupil numbers to meet basic need.
 Meet the costs of new schools.
 Support additional classes needed to meet the infant class size 

regulation.
 A small amount may also be retained centrally to support schools with 

temporarily falling rolls. 

Growth funding will be managed locally by the LA, as it was in 2018-19. BCP 
propose to allocate funding for the purposes of the first 2 bullets only.

1.5. The growth fund may not be used to support:
 schools in financial difficulty; any such support for maintained schools 

should be provided from a de-delegated contingency; academies should 
be supported by their Trust or the DfE directly

 general growth due to popularity; which is managed through lagged 
funding

1.6. The national formula calculates growth funding to allocate to the LA as 
follows:

Page 34



3

 The net change in pupil numbers on roll within set geographical areas 
that contain a few schools each between Oct-17 and Oct-18 will be 
calculated. 

 Any reduction in pupil numbers within an area will be set at zero net 
change, i.e. will not reduce any allocation.

 Each primary growth pupil will attract £1,370 and each secondary 
‘growth’ pupil will attract £2,050

 Each brand-new school that opened in the previous year (i.e. appears on 
the Oct-18 census but not the Oct-17 census) will attract £65,000.

 Funding will be protected so that no LA’s allocation could see a reduction 
compared with 2018-19 of greater than 0.5% of their 2018-19 Schools 
Block funding.

 To offset the cost of this gains will be limited to an increase of 50% 
against 2018-19 with gains above this scaled back by 50%.

There is no national expectation that these funding levels per pupil or for new 
schools will be used by LAs to allocate growth funding to individual schools.  

2. COMPARISON OF EXISTING POLICIES BETWEEN LAs

1.7. In all cases the growth must have been at the request of the LA (basic need) 
and not a school’s decision only.

1.8. Bournemouth and Poole Growth Policies are quite similar, however the 
Dorset policy, whilst also having similarities, also has considerable 
differences. Table 1 below provides a summary of the similarities/differences 
across the existing 3 LAs

TABLE 1:  A comparison of existing Growth Fund policies across Bournemouth, 
Dorset and Poole (B, D & P)

Bournemouth Dorset Poole
Growth paid for:
Permanent increase to PAN Y Y Y
Expanding School across 
national curriculum year groups Y Y Y

New School Y Set- up only Set up Only
Bulge Classes  (temporary 
increase to PAN)

Y (first year 
only)

Y (including 
future years)

Y (first year 
only)

Fund when Infant Class Size 
exceeded N Y N

Class Funding: For Bulge class, Permanent Increase
Pupil count 1 FE based on 30 25 Actual NOR 

Change

Page 35



4

2. FUNDING OF GROWTH ACROSS B, D & P

2.1. Permanent or temporary (bulge) expansion
This is funding provided to a school to support additional costs incurred to the 
school of setting up an additional class that are not yet funded through the 
local funding formula due to the lagged nature of funding. Accompanying 
capital Basic Need funding may or may not be provided depending on 
whether a physical expansion of the school to accommodate a bulge is 
required. A permanent expansion will almost always be accompanied by 
Basic Need funding.

TABLE 2: A comparison of how a temporary expansion/bugle class is funded across 
B, D & P  

Bournemouth Dorset Poole
Permanent 
Increase 
to PAN 

Number of FE 
x 30 x relevant 
BE# x 7/12

Number of FE x 25 x (relevant BE + 
other factors where affordable) x 
7/12
Plus
£1,000 Management Allowance + 
£1800 class set-up per FE each 
year (new schools receive double 
this i.e. £3600 class set up per 
year). Any MFG* allocations 
included with the schools ISB^ are 
deducted from this sum.

Lower of:
 NOR entry 

year minus 
old PAN in 
entry year

 Overall 
school 
change) x 
relevant BE 
x 7/12

Temporary 
PAN 
Increase 
(Bulge)

As above, but 
for 1st year 
only

As above, but for 1st year only, + 
£360 class set- up costs per year.  
Ghost funding is provided to 
guarantee 25 place funding per FE 
as bulge progresses through 
school. MFG allocations are taken 
into account as above.   

As above, but 
for 1st year 
only

#BE is the Basic Entitlement per pupil for the Key stage/ phase in which the growth 
has occurred, and additional factors are those pupil-led factors funded through the 
Local School Funding Formula.  
*MFG is the Minimum Funding Guarantee that protects schools against significant 
losses to per pupil funding year on year as a result of formula/ pupil characteristic 
changes. 
^ISB is the Individual School Budget allocation from the Schools Block determined 
through the local funding formula. 

2.2. New/ Growing School where year groups are increasing each year
This is funding to support either a new school that has opened and does not 
yet have all year groups in place, or a school that has expanded into a new 
phase that also does not yet have all year groups in place

Page 36



5

TABLE 3 : Bournemouth fund as follows:

Empty 
Cohorts 6 5 4 3 2 1 MAX

Primary £80,500 £67,500 £54,000 £40,500 £27,000 £13,500 £283,000

Secondary £125,000 £93,500 £62,500 £31,000 £312,000

All through 
primary £140,500 £117,811 £94,248 £70,686 £47,124 £23,562 £493,931

All through 
secondary £185,00 £138,38 £92,500 £45,880 £461,76

The amounts in this table are as per the diseconomy of scale funding that the DfE 
paid out to new and growing free schools at the time this payment was established in 
2014.  The funding is prorated for the portions of the relevant financial year the 
empty classes are present. 

In addition, new/growing schools attract £250 per primary place added and £500 per 
secondary place added, to cover the provision of pupil resources.

Schools currently receiving funding through this factor in Bournemouth are 
Avonbourne School (All-through: Primary expansion), St. Peter’s School (All through: 
Primary Expansion) and Jewell Academy (new Primary)

Dorset provides £1,000 management allowance each year plus £3,600 class set-up 
costs per year per FE.  Dorset also provided pre-opening start up funding for new 
schools but no Christchurch schools would qualify in 2019-20 under this policy. An 
example of how this policy has worked historically is provided in Appendix 1. 

Poole does not have a specific policy for this as only 1 new school has been 
opened. In this case Poole provided £100,000 one off start-up allowance with 
significant resources (for example, all furniture and ICT) paid from the Capital 
Programme.

2.3. Minor variation to numbers
Bournemouth and Poole do not provide funding through this route. Dorset’s 
2018-19 policy is included in the Appendix 2. The organisation of schools in 
Christchurch has greater similarity with Bournemouth and Poole compared 
with rural Dorset.  Few allocations would be expected under the Dorset policy 
in addition to basic need growth and there are no proposals to adopt these 
additional mechanisms for BCP.   

Page 37



6

3. PROJECTED ALLOCATIONS 2019-20 UNDER EXISTING POLICIES

3.1. Table 4 below shows growth allocations based on existing LA policies. These 
values are estimates only as the Basic entitlement factor rates within the 
2019-20 local formula have not yet been set. The estimates below are based 
on National Funding Formula basic entitlement rates.  

TABLE 4: Growth funding central budget requirement for current local policies

School Amount Description Basis of allocation
Avonbourne 
(Primary)
Bournemouth

£48,380 Growing School 
opening year 5 in Sep 
2019

Start up empty cohorts 
plus + Pupil Resource 
Funding for 60 pupils

St. Peters (Primary)
Bournemouth

£48,380 Growing School 
opening year 5 in Sep 
2019

Start up empty cohorts 
plus + Pupil Resource 
Funding for 60 pupils

Jewell Academy
Bournemouth

£6,250 Growing School will 
have opened year 6 in 
Sep 2018

Final part year start up 
5/12ths £250 per pupil 
resource funding for 60 
pupils

Kingsleigh (Primary)
Bournemouth

£48,072 From 90 to 120 in Sep 
2013. Final Year -
expansion reached 

Primary Basic 
Entitlement for 30

Avonbourne 
(Primary)
Bournemouth

£48,072 Exceptional^ reception 
Bulge Class to open 
Sep 2019 

Primary Basic 
Entitlement for 30

Avonbourne (Sec)
Bournemouth

£202,789 3 FE Bulge Sep 2019 KS 3 Basic Entitlement 
for 90

Harewood (Sec)
Bournemouth

£135,193 2 FE Bulge Sep 2019 KS 3 Basic Entitlement 
for 60 

Bournemouth School 
(Sec)

£67,596 1 FE Permanent Sep 
2019

KS 3 Basic Entitlement 
for 30 

Bournemouth School 
for Girls  (Sec)

£31,545 0.47 FE Permanent 
Sep 2019

KS 3 Basic Entitlement 
for 14

Carter 
Community(Sec)
Poole

£135,193 2 FE Permanent Sep 
2019

KS 3 Basic Entitlement 
for 60 (final based on 
actual NOR growth).

Highcliffe St. Marks 
Christchurch

£2,800 set up 
+ estimated  

£51k formula

1FE year 4 expanded 
Sep 2018

Start-up allowance plus 
all factors through 
formula

Twynham Primary 
Christchurch

£4600 set up Growing School will 
open year 6 in Sep 
2019. Currently 1 FE

Start-up allowance

Total £778,870 Explicit; £51,000 Implicit; £829,870 Total

Note ^: this growth funding is considered exceptional since the LA would 
under normal circumstances only fund 3 consecutive bulge classes at any 

Page 38



7

one school; this would be the fifth consecutive bulge at this school. This 
budget has been added since the Budget Reference Group met in 
September. Further work has established additional reception places are 
needed in Bournemouth for September 2019.  

3.2. The growth funding in table 4 would only be paid out should the actual growth 
materialise within the school in Sep 2019.

3.3. In addition to the central budget for explicit growth in Table 4, implicit growth 
for growing schools must be paid via an increase to pupil numbers through 
the local funding formula (any local exception would need the approval of the 
ESFA). For 2019-20 implicit growth applies for three schools, between which 
an estimated £314k implicit growth funding will be allocated through the 
local formula. This is based on projected pupil numbers in each year group for 
the 2019-20 academic year, with 7 months of the growth funded from the 
2019-20 financial year DSG.  

3.4. Therefore, total funding from growth is estimated at £1.14m across implicit 
and explicit growth.

4. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1. A summary of the Growth Fund allocations using existing LA policies:

Estimated Budget Allocation £000’s
Central Growth Fund – Table 4 779
Highcliffe St Marks – Table 4 51
Growing Schools – Table 5 314
Allocations for school 1,144
Funding 1,806
Available for Transfer or Formula 662

4.2. The Budget Reference Group did not advise the development of a single BCP 
policy for 2019-20 as schools will have planned financially based on existing 
polices with the timescale too short for changes in 2019-20. As context, if 
Bournemouth polices (affecting the greater number of schools), were to be 
applied to Christchurch schools, one would see lower growth funding in the 
region of £5.7k and the other an increase estimated at £8.5k.     

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1. The current Growth Fund policies of the 3 existing LAs are to continue for the 
relevant schools for 2019-20 with a central budget allowance of £779k.  

5.2. A consistent Growth Fund policy is to be established for BCP for 2020-21. 

Page 39



8

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1. It is the Shadow Schools Forum’s remit to establish the size of the Growth 
Fund held in a central budget for explicit growth, and also to agree to fund 
growth though the local formula implicitly where this is not required by the 
Regulations. 

Page 40



9

APPENDIX 1 – Dorset Policy:  Pre-opening Funding  
Dorset provides pre-opening funding for new schools that covers a share of Head 
Teacher salary, a management allowance, administration support funding, a 
caretaking allowance, a premises allowance and a per capital sum. This per capital 
sum is currently £120 per mainstream child in the school, as if the school were full. 
Example: Twynham Primary received the following for pre-opening start-up funding:

Purpose Method Funding £
Head Teacher’s Salary Differentiated by size and phase of school 28,925

Management As per the policy (see above) 1,000

Administration Support Calculated at Grade 5 NJC point 15 6,902

Caretaking allowance 
Equivalent to 2/12th of a caretaker at Grade 
7 NJC point 21 plus on costs and inflation 
covering the period July and August. 

4,057

Premises Allowance Hire of of rooms for interviews, parents’ 
evenings etc. 665

Per Capita Sum £120 per mainstream place as if full 25,200

Total 66,739

APPENDIX 2 – Dorset Policy: Minor Variation to Numbers
There are occasions when, rather than meeting the full costs of setting up an 
additional class, it is more efficient to amend the present arrangements using ‘ghost 
funding’. These would normally be: 
(i) Breach of infant class size legislation (class of 30) for a non-exempt pupil. 

Provide ghost funding of pupils to fund an additional teacher = £35k (5/12ths 
of class cost) less breached pupils’ AWPU. This situation should not occur 
and will only be paid in exceptional circumstances. 

(ii) Infant class size of 32 or more due to exempt pupils. Pay AWPU from when 
the additional children join the school until generated through census to allow 
early employment of TA to give additional support for oversized class. Once 
children are on census that extra funding will come into the school budget 
through AWPU and grant will cease. 

(iii) Key Stage 2 class size of 34 or more (actual or reserved places) Pay AWPU 
from when places are required/reserved to allow early employment of TA to 
give additional support for oversized class. Once children are on census that 
extra funding will come in through the delegated school budget in AWPU and 
grant will cease/reduce accordingly. 

(iv) Secondary places required where growth is not able to be contained within 
PAN (actual or reserved places). Pay AWPU from when places are 
required/reserved to allow structure to be put in place to accommodate the 
pupils. Once the expected pupils are on the census, that extra funding will 
come into the school’s delegated budget through the AWPU and grant will 
cease/reduce accordingly). 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42



1

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH and POOLE 
SHADOW SCHOOLS FORUM 

Subject Funding Transfer from Schools Block to High Needs 
Block 2019-20

Meeting Date 8 January 2019

Report Author (s)

Nicola Webb, Assistant Chief Finance Officer, Bournemouth 
& Poole
Nicola Webb
Email: nicola.webb@poole.gov.uk
Phone: 01202 63 3296
Jack Cutler, Planning and Statistics Officer, Community 
Learning and Commissioning, Bournemouth
Email: Jack.cutler@bournemouth.gov.uk
Phone: 01202 456141

Contributors Vicky Wales, Head of Children, Young People and Learning, 
Poole

Status Public

Classification For decision - all Shadow Schools Forum (SSF) members 
eligible to vote

Executive Summary

1. Reported in December was the High Needs Block (HNB) 
funding gap of £5.4m in 2019-20. 

2. After the meeting on 17 December the DSG Settlement 
provided additional DSG funding of £0.8m for BCP for 
2019-20, and this reduces the funding gap to £4.6m. 

3. This report proposes how the residual gap should be 
closed and includes that the SSF is to agree a £2.2m 
transfer (1.1%) from the Schools Block with the Council 
being approached for a one off contribution to support the 
DSG of £2.4m. The BCP Shadow Authority will make its 
budget decisions on 21 February 2019.   

4. The SSF agreed in December to support a level of 
transfer but with the amount to be determined at the 
January meeting when the outcome of the extended 
consultation with schools had been received. 

5. The report appendix includes the final analysis of the 
consultation with responses received from 38 schools 
(40%) in total. Few schools supported any of the options 
to reduce the high needs budget requirement and a 
majority supported making some level of transfer.

Recommendations
The SSF is to agree a transfer from the Schools Block to High 
Needs of £2.2m equivalent to 1.1% of the Schools Block, with 
a request to be made to the Secretary of State for approval.

Page 43

Agenda Item 7

mailto:nicola.webb@poole.gov.uk
mailto:Jack.cutler@bournemouth.gov.uk


2

Reasons for 
Recommendations

The proposal is to meet the unprecedented level of need 
within High Needs for 2019-20 and recognises that setting a 
balanced DSG budget is a joint responsibility between the LA 
and schools. 

Background Papers SSF Reports from 14 December 2018
1. Report of the High Needs Block Financial Strategy Group
2. Funding Transfer from  Schools Block to High Needs 

Block 

1. HIGH NEEDS BUDGET 2019-20  - PROGRESS AT DECEMBER 2018 

1.1. At the SSF meeting in October 2018 it was reported that based on projected 
levels of need within the High Needs Block (HNB), there would be a funding 
shortfall of £5.7m in 2019-20.  After further work this had reduced to £5.4m 
(equivalent to 2.8% of the Schools Block) at the December SSF meeting.

1.2. In December the Funding Transfer from Mainstream Schools to High Needs 
paper contained the detail of the high needs budgets and these are 
unchanged. The paper also provided a list of options for further budget 
savings that, if all implemented in full, would reduce the projected HNB 
shortfall by £2.2m, resulting in a shortfall equivalent to 1.6% of the Schools 
Block. 

1.3. Also at the December SSF meeting, the HNB Financial Strategy Group of the 
SSF reported the outcome of the work undertaken to review the data and 
trends within the high needs budgets. The Group acknowledged that the 
SEND Code of Practice in 2014 has caused unprecedented demand on the 
HNB and that this is currently underfunded by government. It also concluded 
that the level of permanent exclusion is too high locally. A number of 
recommendations were made and these recognise that schools and the LA 
need to work in partnership to limit demand and achieve better value for 
money. It was also recognised that savings could not be achieved quickly.    

1.4. The two HNB December SSF papers were distributed with a questionnaire to 
all schools with a consultation period in the week leading up to the December 
meeting. There was some support for a funding transfer but the response rate 
from schools was considered to be too low at 26%. The consultation period 
was subsequently extended for a further week up to the end of term with the 
final response rate increased to 40%. This paper provides the final outcome 
of the consultation with a summary in Section 3 and more detailed analysis in 
the appendix.  

1.5. Historically, the Councils across BCP have taken the view that the Dedicated 
Schools Grant budgets should be contained within the level of funding. 
However, the underfunding of the HNB has been acknowledged locally and it 
has also been recognised that Local Government Reorganisation in Dorset 

Page 44



3

has made 2019-20 an exceptional year with balancing the HNB more 
challenging. 

1.6. It was proposed at the December SSF meeting that the Council (as a one-
year exception to normal policy) could contribute towards the extra funding 
required to meet the growth within high needs. This would be alongside a 
contribution from mainstream schools. It is recognised that potential further 
budget cuts in high needs could be made but, as concluded by the HNB 
Financial Strategy Group, these would be counterproductive to the high needs 
financial strategy as a whole. In addition, the impact of these cuts would not 
be seen equally across schools.

1.7. It was proposed that mainstream schools contribute 1.5% of their funding to 
the HNB with the Council providing a one-off contribution to meet the 
remaining shortfall in 2019-20, equivalent to 1.3% of the School Block. This 
would mean that the options for further cuts in funding for schools from the 
high needs budgets would not be implemented.  

1.8. The SSF were made aware that Council had not yet agreed to any level of 
support to the DSG and that this could not be guaranteed until the Shadow 
Council meet on 21 February 2019. If the SSF could not agree to a 1.5% 
transfer then the Shadow Council could find it more challenging to support a 
contribution with instead the expectation that budget reductions would be 
implemented. 

2. HIGH NEEDS SETTLEMENT 2019-20  

2.1. On 17 December 2018 the government provided additional funding for the 
HNB. This consisted of the following nationally:

Description of Funding Allocation
2018-19 High Needs Block £125m
2019-20 High Needs Block £125m
Special Provision Fund (Capital) £100m
Total £350m

2.2. For 2018-19, Bournemouth and Poole received between them £701k 
additional funding, while Christchurch will have received a proportionate share 
of the additional £825k for Dorset. This will be used in Bournemouth and 
Dorset to reduce the carried forward projected deficits for March 2019 which 
had previously been estimated at a combined total £4.5m.

2.3. The additional funding of £798k (equivalent to 0.4% of the Schools Block) for 
BCP high needs in 2019-20 reduces the HNB funding shortfall to £4.6m.  

Page 45



4

2.4. SSF members were made aware of the Settlement announcements and 
implications for BCP by e-mail on 20 December. The Council has 
provisionally agreed that schools should see the full benefit of the additional 
high needs allocation.  

2.5. Consequently, the proposed transfer from the Schools Block to High Needs 
can be reduced to £2.2m, with this being a reduction from 1.5% to 1.1%. 

3. FUNDING TRANSFER CONSULTATION – SUMMARY OF RESPONSES

3.1. The consultation papers were included within the reports for the December 
meeting. The response period was extended until Midnight Friday 21 
December as the response from only 25 schools (26%) was considered by 
the SSF to be too low. 

3.2. A summary of all responses to the consultation is provided in the appendix. In 
total responses were received from 38 schools (40%). 

3.3. The appendix detail includes that 58% of schools supported a transfer of up to 
0.5%, while 45% supported up to 1% and with 18% favouring up to the full 
2.8% (required at the time the consultation first went live) to fully meet the 
projected need within the HNB.

3.4. A significantly greater response was seen from secondary schools with 76% 
of schools making a return compared with 31% of primary schools. The 
response from high needs providers was exceptionally low with only 1 school 
responding. There was greater support for some level of a funding transfer 
from primary phase schools (80%) than the secondary phase (29%). 

3.5. There was a mixed response to the question whether the high needs budget 
as presented should be funded in full. However, the greater proportion of 
responses (39%) were that it should be, but 26% returned unsure or did not 
respond, leaving 34% considering the budget should be reduced. 

3.6. However, in considering where the budget could be reduced, there was little 
support from those that did express a view for implementing any of the 
options put forward. The majority of responders did not provide any views. 
   

4. FINANCIAL IMPACT OF PROPOSLAS ON INDIVIDUAL SCHOOLS BUDGETS

4.1. The Schools Block (SB) settlement resulted in an additional £0.4m (0.2% of 
the SB total) than had been forecast through the new national formula for 
pupil growth. The proposals for the local Growth Fund are considered in a 
separate paper and these do not use this additional funding, along with a 
further potential £0.2m (0.1% of the SB total) from the level previously 
anticipated. Surplus growth funding could be part of the contribution needed 
from mainstream schools. 

Page 46



5

4.2. As a result, to achieve a £2.2m (1.1%) transfer into the HNB, mainstream 
schools would be required to contribute collectively £1.6m (0.8%) from 
funding provided through the mainstream NFF allocations. 

4.3. At the December meeting the SSF agreed that the principles and methods to 
apply in establishing varying levels of transfer were to be those set out in the 
Schools Funding Consultation 2019-20, with one exception. Lever 1 (to 
include the split site factor within minimum per pupil funding) is not to be used 
to reduce the cost of the funding formula.  

4.4. Calculation of the individual schools budgets to take into account the updated 
school data from the October 2018 census is in progress. These will be 
finalised following the decision regarding the level of transfer. We have 
agreed with the DfE an extension to the timetable for submission of the 
budget calculations to allow more time for the relevant decisions to be made 
by the SSF, the Shadow Council and potentially also the DfE.    

5. SUMMARY OF PROPOSED FUNDING OF THE HIGH NEEDS BUDGET

5.1. A Summary of the proposed funding of the high needs budget is as follows: 

Funding Source £m
High Needs Block 38.9

Council Funding 2.4

Schools Block - Schools NFF and Growth 2.2

Early Years Block 0.2

High Needs Budget Requirement 43.7

5.2. The £0.2m contribution from the Early Years Block has already been taken 
into account in the reported funding gap of £4.6m. 

6. RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1. The SSF to agree a transfer from the Schools Block to High Needs of £2.2m, 
equivalent to 1.1% of total Schools Block funding, with a request to be made 
to the Secretary of State for approval. 

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1. The SSF can agree a transfer of up to 0.5% from Schools Block funding 
without requiring the additional approval of the Secretary of State. This means 
for 2019-20, SSF can approve up to £1m.  The level proposed is £2.2m 
(1.1%) and this requires the agreement of the Secretary of State. 

Page 47



6

7.2. A draft request has already been submitted (as agreed by the SSF in 
November) to meet the DfE deadline for requests of 30 November. The DfE 
have been notified that the request will be changed following the December 
Settlement and that this will be submitted following the SSF meeting in 
January 2019.
 

7.3. Information about the high needs budgets to be included in the final request 
will be as presented to the December SSF meeting (funding gap of £5.4m) 
with an updated funding strategy applied.       

Page 48



Agenda Item 7 – Funding Transfer from Schools Block to High Needs 

APPENDIX – Funding Transfer Consultation responses

Introduction

This consultation was provided alongside the Funding Formula Consultation, the purpose of 
which was to obtain the views of schools on any formula changes required to realise various 
levels of transfer; in particular the principles behind final proposals to be developed. 

The purpose of this consultation was to establish the views from schools on what level of 
transfer (if any) they could support, and any changes to the provision within High Needs 
budgets that could be supported to reduce the budget requirement. 

The report on which the consultation questionnaire was based was made available to all 
schools on the afternoon of 6 December and Schools Forum members that evening, at 
which point it was available in the public domain. Links to reports and the questionnaire were 
sent to BCP schools at midday on Mon 10th December and the window for submitting 
responses was opened. 

The original consultation window closed at 9am 13th December, but was reopened on 
Monday 17th December following the Schools Forum meeting where a response rate of 26% 
was considered to be too low. It was subsequently closed again at midnight Fri 21st 
December.

Response rate 

38 schools (40%) in total responded to the consultation out of 96 possible BCP schools 
(including special schools and alternative provision). This was an increase of 12 compared 
with the number of responses as of 13 December 2018, as previously reported at the 
December Schools Forum meeting. A significantly greater response rate was seen from 
secondary schools with 76% of schools making a return. The response from high needs 
providers was exceptionally low with only 1 responding out of 7.   

A breakdown of respondents by school type is provided below.

Schools 
Type

Count of 
Responses

Response 
rate %

Infant/ 
First 6 38%
Primary 11 30%
Junior 3 25%
Secondary 16 76%
All 
Through 1 33%
Special 
School 1 20%
AP 
Academy 0 0%
PRU 0 0%
Total 38 40%

Infant/ 
First

 6

Primary
 11

Junior
 3

Secondary
 16

All Through
 1

Special 
School

 1

RESPONSE RATE - 
number of responses by provider 

type

Page 49



QUESTION 1 
Do you agree that it would be preferential to set a budget to meet forecast need under the 
policies and provision factored into the budget illustrated in Appendix 1?

Response  
Count 

% of 
Responses

Yes 15 39%
 No 13 34%
Not Sure 5 13%
No Response 5 13%
Total 38 100%

General Comments

There was a mixed response to this question with a significant proportion (26%) of 
responders being unsure or not answering this particular question. A greater proportion of 
schools that expressed a preference responded in support of setting a High Needs budget to 
meet forecast need with support for this option having grown during the extended 
consultation period after the December Schools Forum meeting. 

QUESTION 2 
If you do not agree, which of the Options for further funding reductions in Table 3 do you 
support? 
a. Mainstream Top up d. Special Schools and Units
b. Outreach e. Alternative Provision
c. Sensory Impaired f. Early Years SEND support

Response  Yes  No 
 No 
Response 

Proportion 
of yes

Mainstream Top up 3 6 29 8%
Outreach 6 11 21 16%
Sensory Impaired 5 12 21 13%
Special Schools and Units 3 12 23 8%
Alternative Provision 3 12 23 8%
Early Years SEND 
support

6 11 21 16%

Yes
 40%

 No 
 34%

Not Sure
 13%

No 
Response

 13%

QUESTION 1

Page 50



Mainstream Top 
up

Outreach Sensory 
Impaired

Special Schools 
and Units

Alternative 
Provision

Early Years SEND 
support

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40
Yes No No Response

QUESTION 2

General Comments

The majority of responses did not provide a view either way but there was low support for 
reducing any of the central budgets from those that did express a view. One school stated 
that it was essential to protect mainstream top up funding to allow pupils in mainstream to 
receive the support they deserve and have been allocated to avoid costly independent 
provision. 

QUESTION 3
Do you have any suggestions on any other area(s) where spend on high needs pupils can 
be reduced without breaching statutory requirements?

ALL RESPONDERS

Response
 
Count 

% of 
Responses

Yes 26 68%
 No 3 8%
Not Sure 6 16%
No Response 3 8%
Total 38 100%

General Comments

There was considerable request for more specialist provision; however, there was a lack of 
commentary on the additional short-term cost this would incur to HNB, for potentially funding 
empty places while they fill (invest to save – particularly relating to investment in capital 
projects). Two schools have offered to explore the possibility of opening a Secondary 
resource base/ SEN Unit, while one schools suggested providing Sixth Form vocational 
courses for High Needs Pupils as an alternative to more costly special school and 

Yes
 70%

 No 
 8%

Not Sure
 16%

No 
Response

 6%

QUESTION 3

Page 51



Independent/ Non-maintained provision. A primary early intervention project was proposed, 
for which the school(s) involved are already discussing in partnership with the LA.

QUESTION 4
Up to what level of transfer from the Schools Block would you support? (please provide a 
tick against the level you agree).
a. No Transfer
b. Up to 0.5% - Schools Forum level of approval without need for further consideration by the 
Secretary of State.
c. Up to 1% - similar level as 2018-19
d. Up to 1.6% - equal to taking all savings in Table 3 in the SFF Funding Transfer paper
e. Up to 2.8% - potential to meet full projected budget requirement (with no further savings
f. Other
All Schools 

Response  Count % of Responses Cumulative
No Transfer  15 39%
Up to 0.5%  5 13% 58%
Up to 1% 8 21% 45%
Other (Up to 1.1% given in response) 1 3% 24%
Up to 1.6% 1 3% 21%
Up to 2.8% no further cuts made 7 18% 18%
No Response 1 3%
Total 38 100%

Primary

Response  Count % of Responses Cumulative
No Transfer  4 20%
Up to 0.5%  3 15% 80% 
Up to 1% 8 40% 65% 
Other (Up to 1.1% given in response) 1 5% 25%
Up to 1.6% 1 5% 20%
Up to 2.8% no further cuts made 3 15% 15%
No Response 0 0%
Total 20 100%

Secondary 

Special

Response  Count % of Responses Cumulative
No Transfer  11 65%
Up to 0.5%  2 12% 29%
Up to 1% 0 0% 18%
Other (Up to 1.1% given in response) 0 0% 18%
Up to 1.6% 0 0% 18%
Up to 2.8% no further cuts made 3 18% 18%
No Response 1 6%
Total 17 100%

Page 52



1 response from a Special School supporting up to 2.8% - no further cuts made.

General Comments

58% of those responding support a transfer at some level with 45% supporting up to 1%, 
and 18% supporting the full funding gap should be transferred. There was greater support 
for a transfer and at a higher level from Primary than Secondary Schools.

The response ‘Other suggested a transfer level of 1.1% in light of the 1.5% level of 
contribution from schools discussed at the December Forum meeting and the recent 
government announcement to provide an additional 0.4% of Schools Block funding into the 
2019-20 HN Block.

QUESTION 5 
Any there any further comments you would like to make about any issues in this 
consultation?

General comments included concern over the very short consultation period. This has been 
addressed by extending the consultation window by a further week to allow those schools 
that were unable to respond within the original timeframe to submit a response. There was 
also concern that a transfer into the HN block, or even budgeting to meet forecast need via a 
virement of council-tax funding into the DSG could mask the issue. A view was that 
intentional overspending on the HN budget in 2019-20 could force the government’s hand to 
increase High Needs Block as part of their Comprehensive Spending Review. 

One school commented that while permanent exclusions may have an adverse impact on 
the High Needs budget, and provide pressure on places, the mainstream funding attracted 
by that pupil for the remainder of the Financial Year is moved into High Needs. We need 
therefore to make sure all schools are aware that this funding transfer covers only 25% to 
30% of the additional costs incurred through Alternative Provision and in the year of 
exclusion only, as these places are considerably more expensive than mainstream, and 
once provision is full, costs rise further.

There was recognition that High Needs funding is a nationwide issue, and that Local 
Authorities should not be expected to find money from nowhere, but that schools also should 
not be expected to make up the shortfall in funding from within the Schools Block. The 
response recognised the LA has an impossible task of balancing a budget, but so also will 
some schools.

Page 53



LIST OF RESPONDING SCHOOLS 

Schools That Responded
Phase (I, J, 
P, S, A)

Mudeford Community Infants I
Poole Grammar S
Avonbourne College A
Parkstone Grammar School S
The Bishop of Winchester Academy S
St Edward’s S
Highcliffe School S
Poole High School S
St Aldhelm’s Academy S
LeAF Studio S
Oak Academy S
Tregonwell Academy Special
Elm Academy P
St. Joseph’s Catholic Primary School P
Harewood College S
Twynham School S
Burton C of E Primary School P
Queen’s Park Academy J
Baden Powell & St. Peter’s Junior School J
Courthill Infant School I
Lilliput Infant School I
Longfleet Primary School P
Oakdale Junior School J
Old Town Infant School & Nursery I
Bayside Academy P
St Luke’s P
The Priory Church of England VA Primary School P
Glenmoor Academy S
Winton S
Broadstone Middle School S
Broadstone First School F
Bournemouth School S
Carter Community School S
St. Clement’s and St. John’s Infant School I
Heathlands Primary Academy P
The Epiphany P
Corpus Christi Catholic Primary P
Highcliffe St Mark Primary School P

Page 54



1

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH and POOLE (BCP)
SHADOW SCHOOLS FORUM 

Subject Maintained School Central Retention from Budget Shares 

Meeting Date 8 January 2019

Report Author (s)

Nicola Webb – Assistant Chief Finance Officer,
Bournemouth & Poole Councils  
Email: nicola.webb@poole.gov.uk
Phone: 01202 63 3296

Contributors

Vicky Wales – Head of Children, Young People & Learning, 
Poole 
Jack Cutler - Planning and Statistics Officer, Community 
Learning and Commissioning, Bournemouth

Status Public

Classification For decision by maintained school members only  

Executive Summary

1. The DfE require the LA to continue providing statutory 
services to maintained schools funded through central 
retention of maintained school budget shares.

2. Consultation has been undertaken by meeting with 
maintained schools in November supported by the paper 
included in the appendix to this report. Additional 
information of services provided was requested and this is 
included in this report.   

3. The budgets required and proposed amounts per pupil 
(mainstream schools) or per place (specialist providers) 
are set out for approval in this report. 

4. This report has been distributed to all maintained schools. 

Recommendations

1. The central retention budgets to be agreed as set out in 
Paragraph 10 Table 1.

2. The central retention rates are as follows:
Mainstream schools £22.89 per pupil 
Special schools and Alternative Provision £97.27 per 
place

Reasons for 
Recommendations

LAs have statutory duties for maintained schools with school 
budget shares being the source of funding, as set out in the 
school funding statutory framework. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8

mailto:nicola.webb@poole.gov.uk


2

Background
1. Services provided for schools funded by the Dedicated Schools Grant can be 

categorised into funding areas as follows:
a. Maintained mainstream school budget shares - school statutory duties that 

for mainstream maintained schools can be de-delegated to the LA through 
agreement at Schools Forum.

b. All maintained school budget shares (including place funding for specialist 
providers) - LA statutory duties for maintained schools only.

c. Central School Services Block - LA statutory duties for all schools (these 
budgets were agreed at the December 2018 meeting). 

d. All school budget shares - LA traded service that schools can opt to 
purchase.

e. Early Years or High Needs Block – a range of services considered in 
separate reports. 

2. Other LA education statutory duties are funded by central government grants and 
local Council Tax.     

3. This paper concerns only categories a and b above for maintained schools. The 
funding formula return (pro-forma) submitted to the ESFA provides the individual 
budget calculations for all mainstream schools. This includes for maintained 
schools details of any de-delegations and central retentions.

4. The report in the appendix was sent to all maintained schools with a meeting held 
on 6 November 2018 to discuss proposals. Of the 16 schools and 1 PRU, 12 
(70%) were represented and held a mix of views. 

5. The appendix report includes how the DSG provides funding for the different 
services (a to d above) through either school budget shares or the Central School 
Services Block. The separate duties for maintained schools only, compared with 
those for all schools, were clearly distinguished in an appendix to the main report. 

6. De-delegation (for school statutory duties) applies only for mainstream schools 
and BCP is not bringing forward any proposals as indicated in the main school 
funding consultation. 

7. Central retentions (for LA statutory duties) apply to both mainstream and 
specialist providers and agreeing the funding for these services is the main 
purpose of this report.    

8. LAs are to set a single rate per pupil to be deducted from the Basic Entitlement 
funding for mainstream schools and per place for specialist providers.  

9. The amount to be retained from mainstream school budgets is after any MFG, 
cap or minimum per pupil funding level has been applied to the budget share 
calculation. 

Page 56



3

Proposed Maintained School Central Retentions for the year April 
2019 to March 2020 
10.The proposed budget allocation for each service for the 12 month period from 

April 2019 is scheduled in Table 1 below:
Table 1: LA Budget for Maintained School Statutory Duties

 April 2019 to March 2020

Service Budget
Retained £

Statutory & Regulatory Duties:
Education and Service Planning - including appointment of 
governors, government data returns, functions under the 
equality act, legal services advice, handling complaints, 
academy conversion support.

88,850

Finance & Audit - Production of budget schedules and 
payment of funding allocations and DfE grants, consolidation of 
annual accounts and quarterly returns. CFR advice, best value 
and procurement advice, scheme of delegation (LMS scheme), 
Internal audit, banking and treasury, financial regulations 
adaptation for schools (e.g. delegation of some CFO approvals 
to school governors). 

26,834

Human Resources - Employee investigations, pension 
administration, pay scales and conditions of service, TU 
negotiations for local government employees, support for 
school improvement activities. 

19,560

Total Statutory & Regulatory 135,244
Asset Management - premises management support, 
including condition surveys and liaison with dioceses for VA 
schools, asbestos risk management, general health & safety 
duty as an employer.  DfE bids for condition grants and LA staff 
support relating to condition works. 

51,936

Monitoring National Curriculum Assessments 12,781
Total All Duties to be agreed 199,961

11.The proposed rates per pupil and per place are as follow:

 
Actual  Poole 
Rate 2018/19

Proposed BCP 
Rate 2019/20

Mainstream School rate per pupil 33.54 22.89
Specialist Provider rate per place 142.53 97.27

The multiplier for specialist provider places is 4.25 as used by the DfE in the 
previous ESG calculations.  

12.The amounts for each maintained school for the 12 month period (should they 
remain maintained throughout) would be as set out on Table 2:

Page 57



4

Table 2: Proposed Maintained School Central Retentions 2019-20

Maintained Mainstream NOR Retention £
Hillbourne Primary School 274 6,272
Poole High School 1,565 35,823
St Edward's RC / C of E School 900 20,601
Corpus Christi Catholic Primary School 428 9,797
St Katharine's Church of England Primary School 500 11,445
St Walburga's Catholic Primary School 479 10,964
Mudeford Community Infant School 179 4,097
Christchurch Infant School 357 8,172
Burton Church of England Primary School 340 7,783
St Joseph's Catholic Primary School, Christchurch 208 4,761
Mudeford Junior School 265 6,066
The Priory Church of England Primary School 211 4,830
Highcliffe St Mark Primary School * 611 13,986
Somerford Primary School 311 7,119

6,628 151,715

Maintained Specialist Places Places Retention £
Winchelsea Special 130 12,645
Christchurch Learning Centre 48 4,669
Linwood Special 318 30,932

496 48,246
Proposed Contribution BCP £199,961

*If growth funding is paid through the formula (see agenda item 6), this 
allocation would increase by £334 to £14,320. 

Traded Services  
13. It has become clear through various consultation meetings that with the 3 LAs 

operating services differently there is not a common understanding of how 
services are funded. Dorset, for example, has not until 2019-20 proposed to 
centrally retain funding from maintained school budget shares. This has resulted 
in the current year offer for traded services there being elements of these 
activities for maintained schools as the distinction has not been made.    

14.Preparations for Local Government Reorganisation include how BCP will provide 
services across the new area for all schools and information will be provided 
before April. 

15.A number of services may be offered only to maintained schools as provision 
centrally complements our statutory duties summarised in Table 1. This includes, 
for example, the opportunity to join the Council’s group banking arrangements. 
Christchurch schools will need to make some changes as they will no longer be 
part of the Dorset LA. Maintained schools in Bournemouth and Poole will be able 

Page 58



5

to continue with the existing arrangements until BCP implement a single banking 
approach.  

16. It is also expected that all maintained schools will join the central insurance 
arrangements although this funding is delegated to schools. Exceptionally it may 
depend on historic claims history, but in this event the Council will support a 
separate procurement as the LA has a duty to ensure school arrangements are 
satisfactory. Insurance costs are charged to schools, largely according to pupil 
numbers. 

17.Dorset LA has also operated a pooling arrangement for building repair works for 
maintained schools and BCP will need to consider how Christchurch schools will 
be supported within BCP. As an example of options, Poole schools currently 
make their own individual arrangements unless part of a larger capital project.             

Financial Implications
18.The impact of the central retention for each school is included in Table 2 above.
19.As schools convert to academy status the central retention works as follows:

School Conversion Period Funding for statutory services 
On or before 1 April 2019  LA does not retain from school budget 

share   
2 April 2019 to 31 March 
2020 

 LA retains agreed school budget up to 
conversion date (eg conversion on 1 
January 2020 LA retains 9/12ths)    

 Academy keeps the budget after 
conversion date, to provide its own new 
statutory functions or contribute to those of 
its Multi Academy Trust. 

20. If the retention is not supported in full maintained schools would see some 
services move to a fully chargeable basis where possible. For example, the 
revenue costs of support for capital projects would need to be paid for by schools 
individually as they benefit from the grant available to the LA. This could impact 
on an individual school’s ability to access capital funding to resolve premises 
issues.   Some services are behind the scenes and the LA has no ability not to 
provide (such as to comply with accounting regulations, paying budget shares, 
and completing data returns) and individual charging would be an inefficient use 
of time for both school staff and the LA.  Other charges could need to apply to 
support a school facing a crisis with this not in the best interest of either party.  

Recommendations 
21.Maintained schools to agree the budget set out in Table 1 and the central 

retention rates as follows:
Mainstream per pupil  £22.89
Specialist per place  £97.27

Page 59



6

Legal Implications
22.The School Finance Regulations 2019 to 2020 set out the school revenue 

funding arrangements for the financial year, including those applicable for 
maintained schools only.

Equalities Impact Assessment  
23.Central school services for maintained schools largely support the education 

system at school level rather than providing services to individual pupils. 
However, the overall resilience of LAs is important as the greater part of the 
budget supports statutory services for vulnerable adults and children.          

Background Papers
24.School Finance Operational Guidance 2019-2020

Page 60



7

Appendix 1

Paper Discussed with Maintained schools on 6 November 2018   

Funding for Maintained School Education Services 
De-delegations and Central Retentions from Maintained School Budget Shares
1. Introduction

It is important to distinguish between different categories of services for schools:
 

1. Maintained schools only de-delegated services funded from the 
individual maintained mainstream school budget share 

These are services where the LA has no statutory duty to provide for 
maintained schools. These services can continue to be provided centrally 
by the LA with funding withheld from mainstream school budget shares 
through de-delegation. This is applicable for maintained mainstream 
schools only, with the arrangements for maintained special and AP 
providers to be the same as those for academies. Schools Forum makes 
the decision on behalf of all maintained schools by primary and secondary 
phases separately.   
 

2. Maintained schools only central retention services funded from the 
individual maintained school budget share and place funding. 

These are services where the LA retains a statutory duty to undertake 
activity to support maintained schools. These services are to be funded 
from central retention of school budget shares. This is applicable for all 
maintained mainstream, special and AP schools. Schools Forum makes 
the decision on behalf of all maintained schools collectively.    

3. All schools centrally provided statutory services funded from the DSG 
Central Schools Services Block. Schools Forum makes the decision on 
behalf of all schools. These statutory services are included within the 
appendix to show how they differ from those in paragraph 2 for maintained 
schools only. These services will be considered in a separate paper for a 
later meeting. 
 

4. All schools service level agreements decided individually by maintained 
schools and academies that are not statutory duties of the LA and do not 
form part of the Schools Forum business. 
      

Where Schools Forum make the decision the relevant schools only (by phase or 
collectively) are able to vote. 

This paper considers proposals for services in paragraphs 1 and 2 for maintained 
schools only at this stage.  

Page 61



8

2. De-delegated Services for Maintained Schools

2.1.Extract from DfE Guidance:

De-delegated services

De-delegated services are for maintained schools only; funding for de-
delegated services must be allocated through the formula but can be passed 
back, or ‘de-delegated’, for maintained mainstream primary and secondary 
schools with schools forum approval.
De-delegation does not apply to special schools, nursery schools, or PRUs.
Where de-delegation has been agreed for maintained primary and secondary 
schools, our presumption is that the local authority will offer the service on a 
buy-back basis to those schools and academies in their area which are not 
covered by the de-delegation.

In the case of special schools and PRUs, the funding to buy such services will 
be included in any top-up payments.

Any decisions made to de-delegate in 2018 to 2019 related to that year only; 
new decisions will be required for any service to be de-delegated in 2019 to 
2020.

Schools forum members for primary maintained schools and secondary 
maintained schools must decide separately for each phase whether the 
service should be provided centrally; the decision will apply to all maintained 
mainstream schools in that phase.

They must decide on fixed contributions for these services so that funding can 
then be removed from the formula before school budgets are issued. There 
may be different decisions for each phase.  

The full list of services in this category is in paragraph 167.3 in the guidance.  

2.2.BCP 2018-19 Maintained School De-delegations 
Bournemouth and Poole ceased all de-delegation when most schools had 
converted to academy status.
In 2018-19 Dorset de-delegated the following amounts from Christchurch 
schools to deliver maintained school services collectively as follows: 

Dorset Service 2018-19 £
FSM eligibility checking 1,586
Financial difficulty - redundancy support 8,660
TU activity (supply cover) 3,812
Total De-delegated 14,058

Page 62



9

2.3.BCP 2019-20 Proposal
BCP is not proposing to undertake any de-delegation of maintained 
mainstream school budget shares to deliver the services currently provided 
by Dorset.
Arrangements for these services are proposed as follows:   
FSM eligibility checking
An SLA is currently available to all maintained schools and academies in 
Bournemouth and Poole for FSM eligibility checking.  BCP will continue this 
arrangement to include all Christchurch schools from April 2019.  
Financial Difficulty and TU activity (supply cover)  
Schools will each be required to bear their individual costs as they arise. 
Maintained school representatives are to provide feedback on any 
issues with this proposal. 
   

3. Central Retention Services for Maintained Schools

3.1.These services were previously funded by the Education Services Grant 
(ESG) with academies receiving their own funding for these services. The 
ESG ended for LAs and new academy conversions from September 2017 
with the grant winding out for existing academies through transitional 
protection.   

3.2.Extract from DfE Guidance  

Services for maintained schools

Local authorities can fund some services relating to maintained schools only 
from maintained school budget shares, with the agreement of maintained 
school members of the schools forum.

The relevant maintained schools members of the schools forum (primary, 
secondary, special, and pupil referral units (PRUs)) should agree the amount 
the local authority will retain.

If the local authority and schools forum are unable to reach a consensus on 
the amount to be retained by the local authority, the matter can be referred to 
the Secretary of State.

Local authorities should set a single rate per 5 to 16 year old pupil for all 
mainstream maintained schools, both primary and secondary; in the interests 
of simplicity, this should be deducted from basic entitlement funding.

We will not allow adjustments to other factors, and the rate will not include 
early years or post-16 pupils, who are funded through different formula.

Page 63



10

Local authorities can choose to establish differential rates for special schools 
and PRUs if the cost of fulfilling the duty is substantially different for these 
schools. The rate will be expressed per-place rather than per pupil for special 
schools and PRUs.

As with de-delegation, the amount to be held by the local authority will be 
determined after MFG has been applied.

If a school converts to academy status, ESFA will recoup the amount retained 
for that school from the local authority’s DSG for the remaining months of the 
financial year that the school is an academy.

Local authorities should provide sufficient evidence to their schools forum to 
enable them to make an informed decision on the amount of funding to be 
held centrally, including a comparison where relevant between those relating 
to all schools, and those for maintained schools only. Also to be included:  

 consequences for the funding and delivery of each of the services 
provided, if the request was not approved

 the impact on individual school budgets, and their overall financial 
position

 the impact on the local authority if the amount was not held centrally
 an equalities impact assessment carried out to assess the impact of 

the central retention of the funding on children or other people who 
have one or more of the protected characteristics under the Equality 
Act 2010

The split of services between responsibilities local authorities hold for all 
schools, and those that relate to maintained schools only are shown in the 
appendix.

3.3.BCP 2018-19 Maintained School Central Retentions  
Only Poole implemented this arrangement in 2018-19, with reduced central 
retention rates compared with 2017-18. Bournemouth and Dorset decided 
instead to reduce other Council services to absorb the full funding cut from the 
removal of the ESG for maintained school statutory services.  

Poole 2018-19 central retention rates:
Mainstream schools per pupil  £33.54
Special school per place £142.53 
The totals retained in Poole are summarised in the table below: 

Poole central retention budget 2018-19 £
Asset management 30,388
Statutory & regulatory Duties 79,130
Monitoring national curriculum assessments 7,501
Less academy conversion after budget (10,296)
Total retained 2018-19 106,723

Page 64



11

Poole Schools Forum was unable to agree an approach (equal voting 
between maintained school members) in 2018-19 with the DfE requested to 
arbitrate. The DfE decided in favour of Poole taking into account that 
maintained schools were able to afford the amounts requested through the 
central retention. 

3.4.Poole 2018-19 approach applied across BCP in 2019-20   

Applied across BCP the Poole 2018-19 central retention rates would charge 
amounts to individual maintained schools as follows:
 

School LA NOR / 
Places

Retained
£

Corpus Christi Catholic Primary B 432 14,489
St Katharine's Church of England Primary B 499 16,736
St Walburga's Catholic Primary School B 478 16,032
Mudeford Community Infants C 180 6,037
Christchurch Infant C 360 12,074
Burton Church of England Primary C 341 11,437
St Joseph's Catholic Primary Christchurch C 216 7,245
Mudeford Junior C 264 8,855
The Priory Church of England Primary C 218 7,312
Highcliffe St Mark Primary C 603 20,211
Somerford Primary C 365 12,242
Hillbourne Primary P 309 10,364
Poole High P 1,523 51,081
St Edward's RC / C of E P 908 30,454
Total Mainstream  6,696 224,570
Linwood B 298 42,474
Winchelsea P 104 14,823
Total Special 402 57,297
Potential Contribution to BCP Services 281,867

The above assumes that the Christchurch PRU will have converted to 
academy by 1 April 2019. If remaining maintained, the above methodology 
would provide an additional £5,701.  

3.5.BCP 2019-20 Proposed Approach
To reflect savings from LGR it is proposed to reduce the per pupil and per 
place retention rates to derive a contribution from maintained school in the 
region of £200,000 rather than £282,000. 

Page 65



12

Appendix 
LA Statutory Education Functions 2019-20 

Statutory and regulatory duties 

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

 Director of children’s services and 
personal staff for director (Sch 2, 15a)

 Planning for the education service as 
a whole (Sch 2, 15b)

 Revenue budget preparation, 
preparation of information on income 
and expenditure relating to education, 
and external audit relating to 
education (Sch 2, 22)

 Authorisation and monitoring of 
expenditure not met from schools’ 
budget shares (Sch 2, 15c)

 Formulation and review of local 
authority schools funding formula (Sch 
2, 15d)

 Internal audit and other tasks related 
to the authority’s chief finance officer’s 
responsibilities under Section 151 of 
LGA 1972 except duties specifically 
related to maintained schools (Sch 2, 
15e)

 Consultation costs relating to non-
staffing issues (Sch 2, 19)

 Plans involving collaboration with 
other LA services or public or 
voluntary bodies (Sch 2, 15f)

 Standing Advisory Committees for 
Religious Education (SACREs) (Sch 2, 
17)

 Provision of information to or at the 
request of the Crown other than 
relating specifically to maintained 
schools (Sch 2, 21)

 Functions of LA related to best value 
and provision of advice to governing 
bodies in procuring goods and 
services (Sch 2, 57)

 Budgeting and accounting functions 
relating to maintained schools (Sch 2, 
74)

 Authorisation and monitoring of 
expenditure in respect of schools 
which do not have delegated 
budgets, and related financial 
administration (Sch 2, 58)

 Monitoring of compliance with 
requirements in relation to the 
scheme for financing schools and the 
provision of community facilities by 
governing bodies (Sch 2, 59)

 Internal audit and other tasks related 
to the authority’s chief finance 
officer’s responsibilities under Section 
151 of LGA 1972 for maintained 
schools (Sch 2, 60)

 Functions made under Section 44 of 
the 2002 Act (Consistent Financial 
Reporting) (Sch 2, 61)

 Investigations of employees or 
potential employees, with or without 
remuneration to work at or for 
schools under the direct management 
of the headteacher or governing body 
(Sch 2, 62) 

 Functions related to local government 
pensions and administration of 
teachers’ pensions in relation to staff 
working at maintained schools under 
the direct management of the 
headteacher or governing body (Sch 
2, 73)

 Retrospective membership of 
pension schemes where it would not 
be appropriate to expect a school to 

Page 66



13

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

meet the cost (Sch 2, 76)
 HR duties, including: advice to 

schools on the management of staff, 
pay alterations, conditions of service 
and composition or organisation of 
staff (Sch 2, 64); determination of 
conditions of service for non-teaching 
staff (Sch 2, 65); appointment or 
dismissal of employee functions (Sch 
2, 66)

 Consultation costs relating to staffing 
(Sch 2, 67)

 Compliance with duties under Health 
and Safety at Work Act (Sch 2, 68)

 Provision of information to or at the 
request of the Crown relating to 
schools (Sch 2, 69)

 School companies (Sch 2, 70)
 Functions under the Equality Act 

2010 (Sch 2, 71)
 Establish and maintaining computer 

systems, including data storage (Sch 
2, 72)

 Appointment of governors and 
payment of governor expenses (Sch 
2, 73)

Table a: Central services responsibilities held by local authorities (statutory and regulatory 
duties)

Education welfare

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

 Functions in relation to the exclusion 
of pupils from schools, excluding any 
provision of education to excluded 
pupils (Sch 2, 20)

 School attendance (Sch 2, 16)
 Responsibilities regarding the 

employment of children (Sch 2, 18)

 Inspection of attendance registers 
(Sch 2, 79)

Table b: Central services responsibilities held by local authorities (education welfare)

Page 67



14

Asset management

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

 Management of the LA’s capital 
programme including preparation and 
review of an asset management plan, 
and negotiation and management of 
private finance transactions (Sch 2, 
14a)

 General landlord duties for all 
buildings owned by the local authority, 
including those leased to academies 
(Sch 2, 14b)

 General landlord duties for all 
maintained schools (Sch 2, 77a & b 
(section 542(2)) Education Act 1996; 
School Premises Regulations 2012) 
to ensure that school buildings have:
 appropriate facilities for pupils and 

staff (including medical and 
accommodation)

 the ability to sustain appropriate 
loads

 reasonable weather resistance
 safe escape routes
 appropriate acoustic levels
 lighting, heating and ventilation 

which meets the required 
standards

 adequate water supplies and 
drainage

 playing fields of the appropriate 
standards

 General health and safety duty as an 
employer for employees and others 
who may be affected (Health and 
Safety at Work etc. Act 1974)

 Management of the risk from 
asbestos in community school 
buildings (Control of Asbestos 
Regulations 2012)

Table c: Central services responsibilities held by local authorities (asset management)

Central support services

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

 No functions  Clothing grants (Sch 2, 53)
 Provision of tuition in music, or on 

other music-related activities (Sch 2, 
54)

 Visual, creative and performing arts 
(Sch 2, 55)

 Outdoor education centres (but not 
centres mainly for the provision of 

Page 68



15

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

organised games, swimming or 
athletics) (Sch 2, 56)

BCP do not plan to start providing these 
services

Table d: Central services responsibilities held by local authorities (central support services)

Premature retirement and redundancy

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

 No functions  Dismissal or premature retirement 
when costs cannot be charged to 
maintained schools (Sch 2, 78)

Table e: Central services responsibilities held by local authorities (premature retirement and 
redundancy)

Monitoring national curriculum assessment

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

 No functions  Monitoring of National Curriculum 
assessments (Sch 2, 75)

Table f: Central services responsibilities held by local authorities (monitoring national 
curriculum assessment)

Therapies

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

 No functions  This is now covered in the high needs 
section of the regulations and does 
not require schools forum approval

Table g: Central services responsibilities held by local authorities (therapies)

Page 69



16

Other ongoing duties

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

 Licences negotiated centrally by the 
Secretary of State for all publicly 
funded schools (Sch 2, 8); this does 
not require schools forum approval

 Admissions (Sch 2, 9)
 Places in independent schools for 

non-SEN pupils (Sch 2, 10)
 Remission of boarding fees at 

maintained schools and academies 
(Sch 2, 11)

 Servicing of schools forums (Sch 2, 
12)

 Back-pay for equal pay claims (Sch 2, 
13)

 Writing to parents of year 9 pupils 
about schools with an atypical age of 
admission, such as UTCs and studio 
schools, within a reasonable travelling 
distance 1 (Sch 2, 23)

 No functions

Table h: Central services responsibilities held by local authorities (other ongoing duties)

Historic commitments

Responsibilities held for all schools Responsibilities held for maintained 
schools only

 Capital expenditure funded from 
revenue (Sch 2, 1)

 Prudential borrowing costs (Sch 2, 
2(a))

 Termination of employment costs (Sch 
2, 2(b))

 Contribution to combined budgets 
(Sch 2, 2(c))

 No functions

Table i: Central services responsibilities held by local authorities (historic commitments)

1Funding for this duty was previously delivered to local authorities via a s.31 grant. Additional funding 
will be added to the CSSB baseline for this from 2018 to 19. 

Page 70



17

Additional note on central services

Services set out in the tables above will also include administrative costs and 
overheads relating to these services (regulation 1(4)) for:
 expenditure related to functions imposed by or under chapter 4 of part 2 of the 

1998 Act (financing of maintained schools), the administration of grants to the 
authority (including preparation of applications) and, where it’s the authority’s 
duty to do so, ensuring payments are made in respect of taxation, national 
insurance and superannuation contributions

 expenditure on recruitment, training, continuing professional development, 
performance management and personnel management of staff who are funded 
by expenditure not met from schools’ budget shares and who are paid for 
services

 expenditure in relation to the investigation and resolution of complaints
 expenditure on legal services

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72



BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH and POOLE 
 SHADOW SCHOOLS FORUM 

8 January 2019 

 FORWARD PLAN 2018-19  

February
 LAC – Pupil Premium
 Maintained Schools Scheme of Delegation 
 Final Mainstream School Formula Report

Page 73

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 74


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Financial Settlement for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) 2019/20
	5 Early Years
	Development of the EYSFF 19-20 - Appendix A

	6 Growth Fund
	7 High Needs Transfer
	Appendix 7 - Summary of EXTENDED Transfer Consultation Responses

	8 Maintained School Central Retentions
	9 Forward Plan

